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2013 milestones

Rod Antal appointed CEO

JANUARY FEBRUARY MARCH APRIL MAY JUNE JULY AUGUST SEPTEMBER OCTOBER NOVEMBER DECEMBER 2014

Strategy to maximize free cash flow 
and portfolio value announced

Sale of 49% interest in 
Frog’s Leg Mine completed

$70 million special dividend paid

Sale process for Australian 
Business Unit initiated

Increased Çöpler Mineral 
Resource estimate announced

Oxide gold production 
profile to 2017 announced

Sale of Australian 
Business Unit completed

Initiated Definitive Feasibility 
Study on Çöpler’s sulfide ore

Çöpler production 
guidance increased for 
second time during 2013
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2014 TargeTs

2013 Scorecard
•  More than two million man-hours worked without a lost-time injury at Çöpler 

•  Record Çöpler gold production of 216,850 attributable ounces – 28% more than 

initial guidance for 2013

•  Low production costs for Çöpler with Total Cash Costs of $429 per ounce

•  All-in Costs of $864 per ounce

•  Çöpler M+I Resource increased to 8.5 million ounces

•  Cash of $290 million and no debt at December 31, 2013

•  Adjusted Net Profit of $112 million ($0.39 per share)

• Achieve guidance of:

 - 160,000 To 180,000 attributable ounces

 - All-In Costs $730 To $780 per ounce

 - General and administrative expense of $15 million

• Discovery of further economic gold in Turkey

Please be advised that in this annual report:
• All dollars are US dollars unless otherwise noted.
• All ounces are troy ounces of gold. 
• All resource numbers quoted are inclusive of reserves.
•  Cash Operating Costs, Total Cash Costs and All-in Costs per ounce 

figures are non-IFRS financial performance measures with no 
standardized definitions under IFRS. For further information and 
detailed reconciliations, please see the “Non-IFRS Measures” section 
in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis portion of this report. 

•  Readers should refer to Alacer’s public filings at www.sedar.com, 
including the cautionary statements contained therein.

Abbreviations:
Alacer - Alacer Gold Corp.
DFS - Definitive Feasibility Study
g/t - Grams/tonne
JV - Joint Venture
km - Kilometer
Lidya Mining - Lidya Madencilik San. Ve Tic, A.S.
LTI - Lost Time Injury
M+I Resource - Measured and Indicated Resource
Mtpa - Million tonnes per annum
POX - Pressure oxidation
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Your company undertook many transformational changes 
during 2013 in order to ensure the business is focused on 
delivering value from its Turkish assets.

The merger between Anatolia Minerals and Avoca Resources 
unfortunately did not live up to expectations. The poor 
operating performance of the Australian assets, coupled 
with the declining gold price environment since the time 
of the merger, had been a distraction from the outstanding 
operating performance of the Çöpler Gold Mine in Turkey.

The disparity between our low-cost Çöpler Gold Mine and 
our high-cost Australian mines resulted in an unbalanced 
asset portfolio that muddied Alacer’s investment case. This 
was one of the key reasons we made the strategic decision 
to sell the Australian assets and focus our efforts on Turkey.

The restructuring of our business has also included 
reductions in the management team and corporate 
overheads. Following these necessary changes, Alacer is 
now well placed to execute our new strategy in a cost-
effective manner.

Çöpler is a World-Class asset

In February 2014, Çöpler achieved a significant safety 
milestone of a full year without a lost time injury (“LTI”), 
or about 2.8 million man-hours worked without an LTI. 
Safety is a core value of our business and this achievement 
represents a leading indicator of an engaged and 
motivated workforce.

Our low-cost, heap-leach operation at Çöpler continues to 
outperform expectations and set new production records. 

Production guidance was increased twice during 2013, 
primarily driven by better than expected oxide ore grades and 
a steady improvement in heap-leach gold recoveries. These 
positive production outcomes demonstrate our steadily 
increasing operating capabilities. 

Çöpler’s All-in Costs were $864 per ounce for 2013 and are 
forecast to be even less for 2014.

This will make Çöpler one of the lowest cost gold mines in 
the world during 2014 and differentiate Alacer as a gold 
company providing high-margin returns.

A Definitive Feasibility Study (“DFS”) is currently evaluating 
the treatment of sulfide ore via whole-ore pressure 
oxidation (“POX”). Following the completion of the study, 
Alacer’s Board of Directors will decide whether to proceed 
to detailed engineering and construction of the POX project.

It is notable that the grade of the sulfide ore mined during 
2013 was significantly higher than predicted with positive 
gold reconciliations averaging 39% on a contained ounce 
basis. An extensive work program to understand the 
factors contributing to these positive gold reconciliations is 
currently being undertaken in conjunction with the DFS.

alaCer’s opportunity in turkey

Alacer has been active in Turkey since 1996 and holds a 
significant land position in Turkey which provides organic 
growth potential. As an established gold producer in the 
region with a strong local partner, Alacer holds a key 
strategic advantage in becoming a multi-mine producer 
in Turkey.

We are in partnership with Lidya Mining for our exploration 
portfolio across Turkey, which includes 11 active exploration 
projects. Lidya Mining is part of Çalık Holding A.Ş., which is a 
multi-billion dollar Turkish conglomerate that is enthusiastic 
about Turkey’s mineral potential. 

The Çöpler District is Alacer’s highest priority area for 
exploration. The priority is to discover shallow oxide gold 
ore to supplement the existing heap-leach feed to the 
Çöpler Gold Mine, leveraging off existing infrastructure 
and support.

CEO LEttEr 
tO SharEhOLdErS
DEAR SHAREHOLDER,
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I would like to extend my gratitude to all of Alacer’s 
employees for their significant efforts and dedication 
during 2013, as well as their on-going commitment to 
working safely. 

I am very excited about the progress being made during 
2014 and the direction in which the Company is now 
headed. Alacer is in an excellent position to capitalize on 
the transformational changes made during 2013.

Sincerely,

Rodney P. Antal
Chief Executive Officer

May 2, 2014

Exploration of the other projects in Alacer’s portfolio in 
Turkey increased during 2013. First-pass drilling at the 
Dursunbey project intercepted encouraging gold, silver 
and base metal mineralization which will be followed up by 
further drilling during 2014.

outlook 

Çöpler’s heap-leach operation will continue to produce 
strong operating cash flow for years to come. Our 2014 
guidance is for 160,000 to 180,000 attributable ounces at 
low All-in Costs of $730 to $780 per ounce.

The outcomes of the current DFS on treating Çöpler’s 
sulfide ore will provide clarity on Çöpler’s expansion.

Future growth is underpinned by our substantial exploration 
portfolio in Turkey where we are actively drilling.

Our focus remains on maximizing portfolio value and free 
cash flow in the context of minimizing project risk to protect 
the business and thus create value for shareholders.

TURKEY
ÇÖPLER

BLACK SEA

1Moz

5Moz

10Moz+

ISTANBUL

ANKARA

“Our low-cost, heap-leach operation at Çöpler continues to 
outperform expectations and set new production records.”
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Underpinning the operational success and growth of 
Alacer is:

•  a commitment to environmental, health and safety 
performance that is supported by core sustainability 
policies; and

•  the cooperation and acceptance from the communities 
we interact with, towards Alacer’s operations.

Our workforce is committed to striving for Alacer’s 
sustainability principles and goals which include:

•  Operate safely and pursue an incident and                  
injury-free workplace.

•  Act responsibly to minimize our impact on the 
environment and communities.

•  Always be aware of the surroundings in which we 
operate in order to continually eliminate risk.

HealtH and safety performanCe

Alacer is committed to undertaking its activities in a manner 
that promotes the health and safety of its employees, 
contractors and the communities in which we operate.

Safety programs include training for all employees, special 
training for exploration and emergency response teams, 
recognition programs for safety achievement, and a 
steady flow of information that keeps people focused on 
continuous safety improvement.

Health and safety performance is measured in order to 
drive continual improvement in the Company’s health and 
safety performance.

Alacer continues to track lost time injuries (“LTI’s”), medically 
treated injuries and minor injuries. 

Çöpler achieved 2.4 million hours without a LTI as at 
December 31, 2013, increasing to 3.0 million hours 
without a LTI on March 27, 2014.

SuStainability
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stakeHolder engagement

Alacer consults and engages with a wide range of parties 
and individuals, including those in communities, political 
representation, different levels of government and 
government institutions, employees, contractors and 
suppliers, the media, academic or research institutions, 
and non-government organizations.

This engagement strategy requires Alacer to:

•  ensure all stakeholders have been identified in an open 
and transparent manner, including those affected directly 
and indirectly, with a particular focus on disadvantaged 
or vulnerable groups;

•  conduct stakeholder analysis to identify rights and 
interests, and periodically review this throughout the life 
of the operation;

•  utilize transparent and consultative communication 
processes to engage key stakeholders and provide 
feedback on issues raised; and

•  apply appropriate mechanisms for hearing and    
resolving stakeholder feedback within transparent and 
defined timeframes.

engagement at Çöpler 

Alacer’s Çöpler operation presents both impacts and 
opportunities for communities surrounding the mine. The 
local communities are an important source of labor and 
local services. 

The Çöpler Gold Mine continued to fund the construction 
of a school in the nearby town of İliҫ during 2013. It is 
estimated that Çöpler will invest a total of $2.8 million in 
building this school. Donations were also made to various 
other community projects and groups during 2013.

Significant time and resources are devoted to building 
and maintaining relationships with the key stakeholders 
to ensure the long-term development of constructive and 
positive relationships. These initiatives are supported by a 
well-resourced community relations team on site in Turkey.
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Alacer operates the world-class Çöpler Gold Mine that 
produced 271,063 ounces of gold during 2013. Çöpler has 
very substantial Proven and Probable Reserves of 3.6 million 
ounces of contained gold and Measured and Indicated 
Resources of 8.5 million ounces of contained gold.

Çöpler is located in central eastern Turkey, roughly 550 
km east of Ankara and 120 km southwest of the city of 
Erzincan. The nearest population center is the town of ĺliҫ 
(population 3,000) which is 6 km northeast of Çöpler.

Çöpler is currently an open-pit, heap-leach operation 
that is producing gold from oxide ore. The treatment of 
sulfide ore via pressure oxidation is being evaluated and 
a Definitive Feasibility Study (“DFS”) is planned to be 
completed by June 2014.

Çöpler operations

During 2013, the Çöpler Gold Mine produced 271,063 
ounces at Total Cash Costs of $429 per ounce from heap 
leaching of oxide ore.

Open-pit mining at Çöpler is a typical drill, blast, load haul 
operation which is undertaken by a Turkish contractor, 
Çiftay İnşaat Taahhüt Tic A.Ş. 

Mining of the Manganese Pit commenced during 2010 and 
mining of the Marble and Main Pits commenced during 
2012. The Manganese Pit has provided the majority of 
ore to date, however, the majority of ore is planned to be 
sourced from the Main Pit from the second half of 2014.

Çöpler Gold Mine

ISTANBUL

ANKARA

Çöpler Gold Mine
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ÇöPLER HISTORY
•  September 1998 – Alacer acquired its first interest in Çöpler 

•  January 2004 – Alacer consolidated 100% control of the 
Çöpler property

•  August 2009 – Strategic relationship with Lidya Mining formed

•  Late 2009 – Construction of the mine began

•  December 2010 – First gold poured

•  April 2011 – Commercial gold production commenced

•  December 2011 – Lidya Mining exercised option to increase 
its ownership to 20% (from 5%)

•  December 2013 – 645,749 cumulative ounces of gold produced

These three pits are currently optimized on mining oxide 
ore only and may ultimately become one large open pit 
when sulfide ore is included in the pit optimizations.

Processing of oxide ore commenced in 2011 with a three-
stage crushing circuit nominally rated at 15,500 tonnes 
per day. In late 2013, a parallel clay handling circuit was 
commissioned to enable processing of ore with a higher 
clay content. The Çöpler plant now has the capacity to 
process approximately 17,000 tonnes per day of oxide ore.

The product from both of these circuits is conveyed to 
agglomeration and then delivered to the heap-leach pad 
via a series of portable conveyors for stacking and leaching. 
The heap-leach pad is underlain by an impermeable plastic 
liner on top of a layer of compacted clay.

To extract the gold from the ore, a low-concentration 
cyanide solution is applied to the agglomerated ore 
on the leach pad using a low-pressure irrigation drip 
system. The heap-leach pad is planned to have 8 lifts each 
approximately 8 meters high. 

The resulting gold-bearing solution is gravity fed to the 
carbon-in-column circuit where gold is recovered from the 
solution. The barren solution is then re-circulated to the 
heap with added cyanide. Dore bars are produced onsite 
and transferred to third-party refineries for final recovery 
of gold and minor amounts of silver.

Over the life of the current heap-leach project, 
approximately 63% of the gold contained in the oxide ore 
is expected to be recovered.

KEY ÇöPLER FACTS:
• Ownership: 80% Alacer Gold, 20% Lidya Mining

• Mining: Open pit by contractor

• Processing: Heap leach

• 2013 Gold Production: 271,063 ounces

•  Proven & Probable Reserves: 70.1 million tonnes at 1.6g/t gold for 
3.6 million ounces (as at December 2013)

•  Measured & Indicated Resources: 194.2Mt at 1.4g/t gold for 8.5 
million ounces (as at June 2013)
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"Çöpler’s heap-leach operation will 
continue to produce strong operating 
cash flow for years to come."
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Construction of a Sulfidation, Acidification, Recycle and 
Thickening (“SART”) plant was completed in late 2013. 
The SART process removes soluble copper from the 
pregnant solution and thereby reduces the consumption 
of cyanide while maintaining gold recovery levels. As 
increasing amounts of ore are mined from Çöpler’s Main 
Pit, increasing copper levels in the pregnant solution are 
expected to require the SART plant to be utilized and a 
saleable copper product will be produced.

Çöpler development

Alacer’s near-term organic growth is focused on 
developing Çöpler’s sulfide ore in a disciplined manner. 
The sulfide Measured and Indicated Resource of 120.9 
million tonnes at 1.5g/t gold represents 62% of the total 
tonnes in the Measured and Indicated Resource at Çöpler, 
or 6.0 million ounces out of the total 8.5 million ounces of 
contained gold.

During 2013, more than 1.3 million tonnes of sulfide ore were 
added to stockpiles with an average grade of 4.9g/t gold. The 
grade of the sulfide ore mined was significantly higher than 
predicted by the resource block models with a positive gold 
reconciliation of 39% on a contained ounce basis.

Çöpler’s sulfide gold mineralization is refractory, as 
conventional cyanidization results in very poor gold 
recoveries. An exhaustive technical review completed 
during 2013 confirmed whole-ore pressure oxidation 
(“POX”) provides the best economic return for processing 
the Çöpler sulfide ore.

POX is the only process that has been demonstrated 
to achieve nearly-complete oxidation of the sulfide 
ore (approximately 97%) with effective liberation of 
gold, resulting in gold recoveries of 94%.

In November 2013, Alacer announced that the 
Company is proceeding with a DFS on utilizing POX 
to treat Çöpler sulfide ore. The DFS is evaluating a 
5,000 tonne per day POX plant that can be expanded 
if conditions warrant in the future. The DFS is planned 
to be completed in Q2 2014.

outlook for 2014

Çöpler is forecast to produce 160,000 to 180,000 
attributable ounces during 2014 at low All-in Costs 
$730 to $780 per ounce.

Following the completion of the Sulfide DFS, Alacer’s 
Board of Directors will decide whether to proceed to 
detailed engineering and construction of the POX project.

Alacer’s core exploration focus in Turkey during 2014 
will be to further evaluate the oxide gold potential of 
the Çöpler District via drilling. 

With substantial Mineral Resources and Reserves, 
the world-class Çöpler deposit is expected to be 
producing gold for many years to come.

ÇöPLER GOLD MINE
(100% BASIS)

2011
ACTUAL

2012
ACTUAL

2013
ACTUAL

ORE TREATED (TONNES) 7,568,380 7,077,727 6,697,209

HEAD GRADE (G/T) 1.54 1.65 1.91

GOLD PRODUCED (OZ) 185,418 188,756 271,063

CASH OPERATING COSTS (US$/OZ) 322 335 414

TOTAL CASH COSTS (US$/OZ) 369 375 429

Çöpler Gold Mine (continued)
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All of Alacer’s exploration projects are within the Tethyan 
Metallogenic Belt in Turkey, which is widely acknowledged 
to have excellent mineral potential. The Anatolian region 
has provided various minerals since antiquity, but modern 
exploration is generally still at an early stage.

Alacer holds its exploration portfolio in partnership with 
Lidya Mining, which is part of the Turkish conglomerate 
Çalık Holding A.Ş.

As an established gold producer in the region with a 
strong local partner, Alacer believes it holds a key strategic 
advantage in building a larger mining business in Turkey.

Çöpler distriCt exploration

Çöpler is an epithermal gold-silver-copper deposit, 
centered on a composite diorite to monzonite 
porphyry stock that has intruded into the surrounding 
metasediments and limestone-marbles. Crossing these 
units are two main parallel east-northeast striking faults 
with smaller northeast/northwest striking faults between 
them, providing a permissive environment for the 
hydrothermal mineralization.

Alacer’s exploration licenses surrounding the Çöpler 
deposit cover most of a 15 km by 25 km area. The 
exploration licenses are managed under two separate joint 
ventures (“JV”). Alacer owns 80% of the licenses adjacent 
to Çöpler under the Anagold JV and 50% of the remaining 
licenses in the Çöpler District under the Kartaltepe JV.

The priority for the Çöpler District exploration is to 
discover shallow oxide gold ore to supplement the existing 
heap-leach feed to the Çöpler Gold Mine, leveraging off 
existing infrastructure and support. The Çöpler District has 
been historically underexplored and Alacer believes that 
the Çöpler Gold Mine has the potential to be the first of 
several gold deposits to be mined in the district.

During 2013, drilling intercepted encouraging oxide gold 
mineralization at the Bayramdere and Yakuplu prospects. 
Bayramdere’s high-grade zone is a horizontal near-
surface tabular oxide body along a low-angle thrust fault 
between serpentines and limestones. Yakuplu’s oxide gold 
mineralization is generally found near the contact zones 
between geological units.

During 2014, further drilling is planned to be carried out at 
Bayramdere and Yakuplu as well as other prospects in the 
Çöpler District.
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regional turkey exploration

The projects in Alacer’s portfolio in Turkey are generally at 
an early stage of exploration. 

The Polimetal JV covers 18 licenses and 43,088 hectares 
across Turkey. Most of Alacer’s regional exploration projects 
in Turkey are managed by Lidya Mining in the Polimetal 
JV. Alacer elected to dilute its ownership in the Polimetal 
JV from 50% in 2012 to 20% during 2013. However, Alacer 
retains the right to “claw back” to a 50% interest in any 
project by matching Lidya Mining’s historical exploration 
expenditure on that project within 60 days of the 
completion of a Preliminary Economic Assessment.

Alacer has elected to claw back to a 50% interest in the 
Dursunbey project in western Turkey. Drilling at Dursunbey 
during 2013 intercepted encouraging gold, silver and base 
metal mineralization hosted in a variety of metamorphic 
rocks (primarily schists). The 2014 program includes infill 
and extensional drilling with the aim of determining the 
continuity and extent of mineralization at Dursunbey.

Detailed exploration work and initial drilling are planned 
to be carried out at two other prospects in western Turkey 
during 2014: Ivrindi and Sarıçayıryayla.

Cevizlidere, located in the Tunceli Province, is the most 
advanced project in Alacer’s regional exploration portfolio. 
Alacer Gold is undertaking preparatory work prior to 
recommencing drilling at Cevizlidere, which is 50% owned 
through the Tunçpinar JV. 

Cevizlidere contains a copper-gold-molybdenum porphyry 
deposit that has not been drilled since 2005 and remains 
open to the southeast and at depth. The mineralization is 
associated with multiple porphyry intrusions and zoned 
alteration. Supergene alteration and redistribution of 
copper mineralization has created a near-surface enriched 
zone. An Inferred Resource has been estimated of 446 
million tonnes at 0.38% copper, 0.11g/t gold, and 48ppm 
molybdenum, containing 1.7 million tonnes of copper 
and 1.6 million ounces gold. Geophysics and geological 
mapping indicates several other alteration and porphyry 
systems within the Cevizlidere project licenses. 

TURKEY

YAHYALI

DURSUNBEY CEVIZLIDERE

TURKEY REGIONAL 50/50
TURKEY REGIONAL 20/80

ISTANBUL

ANKARA
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At the start of 2013, Alacer’s Australian Business Unit 
(“ABU”) comprised:

• 49% interest in the Frog’s Leg Mine;
•  100% interest in the South Kalgoorlie Gold Operations; 

and
• 100% interest in the Higginsville Gold Operations.

In February 2013, Alacer announced the sale of its 49% 
minority interest in the Frog’s Leg Mine to La Mancha 
Resources Australia Pty Limited.

In April 2013, Alacer completed the sale of its interest in 
the Frog’s Leg Mine for $149 million.

In June 2013, Alacer announced the initiation of a process 
to pursue divestment of its remaining Australian assets 
to enable the Corporation to focus on its high-margin 
operations and exploration activities in Turkey.

In September 2013, stamp duty of $58 million was paid to 
the Government of Western Australia. This payment was 

AustrAliAn 
Business unit

the assessed amount relating to the 2011 merger. Alacer 
lodged an objection to this assessed amount and estimates 
that a refund of up to A$21 million could be received.

In September 2013, Alacer announced that it entered into 
a binding agreement to sell the ABU to a subsidiary of 
Metals X Limited. 

In October 2013, the sale of the ABU was completed and 
Alacer was paid A$40 million in cash (subject to working 
capital adjustments) for all of the shares of Alacer Gold Pty 
Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary. 

For the nine months prior to the effective sale date of 
October 1, 2013, the ABU produced 137,174 ounces at 
Total Cash Costs of $1,160 per ounce.

The sale of these high-cost, low-margin Australian assets 
demonstrates Alacer Gold’s commitment to focusing on 
maximizing free cash flow by concentrating on its low-cost 
operations in Turkey.
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"Çöpler has very substantial Proven 
and Probable Reserves of 3.6 million 
ounces of contained gold."
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MINERAL RESOURCES
GOld Mineral resOurces (attributable to alacer)

DEPOSIT
Measured Indicated Total Measured & Indicated Inferred

Tonnes 
(millions)

Gold Grade 
(g/t)

Contained 
Ounces 

(millions)

Tonnes 
(millions)

Gold Grade 
(g/t)

Contained 
Ounces 

(millions)

Tonnes 
(millions)

Gold Grade 
(g/t)

Contained 
Ounces 

(millions)

Tonnes 
(millions)

Gold Grade 
(g/t)

Contained 
Ounces 

(millions)

Çöpler (80%, as at June 30, 2013)

Oxide 13.0 1.7 0.7 29.2 0.8 0.8 42.2 1.1 1.4 20.6 0.6 0.4

Sulfide 59.2 1.6 3.0 37.5 1.5 1.8 96.7 1.5 4.8 19.1 1.2 0.8

Stockpiles 16.3 1.0 0.6 - - - 16.3 1.0 0.6 - - -

Total 88.6 1.5 4.3 66.7 1.2 2.6 155.3 1.4 6.8 39.7 0.9 1.2

KaraKarTal (50%, as at december 31, 2013)

Total - - - 6.9 0.5 0.1 6.9 0.5 0.1 8.9 0.3 0.1

cevizlidere (50%, as at december, 31, 2013)

Total - - - - - - - - - 222.9 0.1 0.8

TOTal 88.6 1.5 4.3 73.6 1.1 2.7 162.2 1.4 6.9 271.5 0.2 2.1

cOpper Mineral resOurces (attributable to alacer)

DEPOSIT
Measured Indicated Total Measured & Indicated Inferred

Tonnes 
(millions)

Copper 
Grade 
(%)

Contained 
Copper

('000 tonnes)

Tonnes 
(millions)

Copper 
Grade 
(%)

Contained 
Copper

('000 tonnes)

Tonnes 
(millions)

Copper 
Grade 
(%)

Contained 
Copper

('000 tonnes)

Tonnes 
(millions)

Copper 
Grade 
(%)

Contained 
Copper

('000 tonnes)

Çöpler (80%, as at June 30, 2013)

Oxide 13.0 0.15 19.6 29.2 0.11 32.1 42.2 0.12 51.7 20.6 0.10 20.6

Sulfide 59.2 0.11 65.1 37.5 0.11 41.3 96.7 0.11 106.4 19.1 0.13 24.9

Stockpiles 16.3 - - - - - 16.3 - - - - -

Total 88.6 0.10 84.7 66.7 0.11 73.4 155.3 0.10 158.1 39.7 0.11 45.4

KaraKarTal (50%, as at december 31, 2013)

Total - - - 6.9 0.29 19.9 6.9 0.29 19.9 8.9 0.22 19.5

cevizlidere (50%, as at december, 31, 2013)

Total - - - - - - - - - 222.9 0.38 846.9

TOTal 88.6 0.10 84.7 73.6 0.13 93.3 162.2 0.11 178.0 271.4 0.34 911.8
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Mineral Reserves for Çöpler as at December 31, 2013 (Attributable to Alacer)

Category
Tonnes

(millions)
Gold Grade

(g/t)
Silver Grade

(g/t)
Copper Grade

(%)
Sulfur Grade

(%)
Contained Gold

(ounces)
Recoverable

Gold (ounces)

Proven - Oxide In-Situ 22.5 0.97 2.99 0.10 1.40 701,120 414,640

Probable - Oxide In-Situ 7.7 1.03 3.72 0.11 1.81 253,280 141,360

Proven - Oxide Stockpile 0.0 3.19 - - - 1,440 960

Total - Oxide 30.2 0.99 3.17 0.10 1.50 955,840 556,960

Proven - Sulfide In-Situ 18.2 2.15 6.37 0.16 4.20 1,256,640 1,186,880

Probable - Sulfide In-Situ 6.5 2.39 6.83 0.17 4.43 499,120 471,280

Proven - Sulfide Stockpile 1.2 4.84 - - - 191,200 179,760

Total - Sulfide 25.9 2.34 6.49 0.16 4.26 1,946,960 1,837,920

Proven - Oxide + Sulfide + Stockpile 41.9 1.60 4.36 0.12 2.57 2,150,400 1,782,240

Probable - Oxide + Sulfide 14.1 1.65 5.14 0.13 3.01 752,400 612,640

Total - Oxide + sulfide 56.1 1.61 4.70 0.13 2.77 2,902,800 2,394,880

notes appliCable to mineral reserves:

• Reserves are not diluted and full mine recovery is assumed.
•  Average recovery for all rock types is estimated at 58% for heap leaching oxide ore and 94% for pressure oxidation (“POX”) of sulfide ore.
• The February 2010 block model has been depleted based on topography surface as at December 31, 2013.
•  A Net Smelter Return (“NSR”) calculation was used to determine cut-off grade with NSR = ((RecAu * Gold Price) + (RecAg * Ag Price) + 

(RecCu * Cu Price)) – (Bulk Tonnes * (Mining Cost + Processing Cost)). Heap leach costs range from $4-$8/ore tonne and POX costs range 
from $30-$50/ore tonne dependant on rock type. Prices used in cut-off calculation include US$977/gold ounce , US$15.63/silver ounce 
and US$2.93/pound copper.

MINERAL RESERvES

notes appliCable to mineral resourCes:

• Çöpler Resources announced July 25, 2013, see Press Release “Çöpler M+I Resource Increases to 8.5 Million Ounces of Gold”
• In addition to the gold and copper grades detailed above: 
 •  Çöpler also has 3.8g/t silver and 2.8% sulfur for Measured + Indicated Resources and 3.0g/t silver and 1.7% sulfur 

for Inferred Resources .
 • Cevizlidere also has 48ppm molybdenum for Inferred Resources .
• The cut-off grades used to estimate the above Mineral Resources are:
 • Çöpler - 0.3g/t gold for oxide and 0.8g/t gold for sulfide.
 • Karakartal - 0.24% copper equivalent, assuming $700/oz gold and $2.00/lb copper.
 • Cevizlidere - 0.20% copper and assuming $2.00/lb copper.
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general notes appliCable to tHe mineral resourCes and reserves:

•  Numbers may not add up due to rounding.
•  Mineral Resources are inclusive of Mineral Reserves. 
•  Mineral Resources that are not Mineral Reserves do not have demonstrated economic viability. 
•  All ounces in this report are troy ounces of contained gold. 
•  Mineral Resources and Reserves have been estimated and reported in accordance with the standards of Canadian 

National Instrument 43-101 (“NI 43-101”) and the Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum. 
•  The announcements and reports noted below were prepared and first disclosed under National Instrument 

43-101 and the JORC Code 2004. These have not been updated since to comply with the JORC Code 2012 on 
the basis that all material assumptions and technical parameters underpinning the estimates continue to apply 
and have not materially changed. The Çöpler Mineral Resources and Reserves are currently being updated in 
conjunction with the DFS evaluating POX treatment of sulfide ore.

tHese mineral resourCes and reserves Have been previously disClosed and furtHer 
information is available in tHe folloWing doCuments:

•  Çöpler Mineral Resources: Alacer Gold announcement titled “Çöpler M+I Resource Increases to 8.5 Million 
Ounces of Gold”, dated July 25, 2013;

•  Çöpler Mineral Reserves: Alacer Gold’s Annual Information Form for the Year Ended December 31, 2013, dated 
March 12, 2014;

•  Karakartal Mineral Resources: NI 43-101 Technical Report titled “Preliminary Estimate of Mineral Resources 
Karakartal Project, East Central Turkey”, dated July 31, 2009; and

•  Cevizlidere Mineral Resources: NI 43-101 Technical Report titled “The Cevizlidere Porphyry Deposit, Tunceli 
Province, Turkey”, dated October 2, 2009.

key CHanges to mineral resourCes and reserves sinCe tHe 2012 annual report:

•  Çöpler Mineral Reserve has been depleted for mining during 2013.
•  Since the Çöpler Mineral Resource was estimated as at June 30, 2013, a further 3,112,815 tonnes at 1.63g/t gold 

of oxide ore and 693,058 tonnes at 5.09g/t gold of sulfide ore were mined during the second half of 2013.
•  Çöpler Mineral Resource and Reserve are currently being updated as part of the Çöpler DFS planned to be 

completed by June 2014.
•  The Mineral Resources and Reserves for Frog’s Leg, Higginsville and South Kalgoorlie are no longer included as 

Alacer sold the Australian Assets during 2013.

Qualified persons
The disclosure in this report in relation to exploration results, Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves has been 
compiled and approved by Mr. James Francis, BSc (Hons) Geology and MSc Mining Geology, MAusIMM, MAIG, 
who is a full-time employee of Alacer Gold. Mr. Francis has sufficient experience which is relevant to the style of 
mineralization and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity which is being undertaking to qualify as 
a Competent Person as defined in the 2012 Edition of the “Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, 
Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves” and a qualified person pursuant to National Instrument 43-101 – Standards 
of Disclosure for Mineral Projects of the Canadian Securities Administrators. Mr. Francis consents to the inclusion in 
this report of the matters based on this information in the form and context in which it appears.

MINERAL RESOURCES & RESERVES (Continued)
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
For The Year Ended December 31, 2013 

 
This management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) relates to the financial condition and results of 
operations of Alacer Gold Corp. and its subsidiaries (“Alacer Gold” or the “Corporation”), as of March 12, 
2014, and is intended to supplement and complement the Corporation’s audited annual consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2013 (the “consolidated financial statements”) 
and the notes thereto, as well as the Annual Information Form.  Comparison is provided to the year 
ended December 31, 2012.  Readers are cautioned that the MD&A contains forward-looking statements 
and that actual events may vary from Management’s expectations.  Readers are encouraged to read the 
Cautionary Statements included with this MD&A and to consult the Corporation’s consolidated financial 
statements for 2013 and corresponding notes, which are available on the Corporation’s website at 
www.alacergold.com and on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.  The December 31, 2013 consolidated financial 
statements and MD&A are presented in U.S. Dollars (“USD”) and have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (“IASB”).  This discussion addresses matters the Corporation considers important for an 
understanding of our financial condition and results of operations as at and for the year ended December 
31, 2013, as well as our Outlook for 2014. 
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Cautionary Statements 
 
Forward-Looking Information 
 
Except for statements of historical fact relating to Alacer Gold, certain statements contained in this 
MD&A constitute forward-looking information, future oriented financial information, or financial 
outlooks (collectively “forward-looking information”) within the meaning of Canadian securities laws. 
Forward-looking information may be contained in this document and other public filings of Alacer Gold. 
Forward-looking information often relates to statements concerning Alacer Gold’s future outlook and 
anticipated events or results and, in some cases, can be identified by terminology such as “may”, “will”, 
“could”, “should”, “expect”, “plan”, “anticipate”, “believe”, “intend”, “estimate”, “projects”, “predict”, 
“potential”, “continue” or other similar expressions concerning matters that are not historical facts. 
 
Forward-looking information includes statements concerning, among other things,  production, cost and 
capital expenditure guidance; development plans for processing sulfide ore at Çöpler; amount of 
contained ounces in sulfide ore; results of any grade reconciliations; ability to discover additional oxide 
gold ore, the generation of free cash flow and payment of dividends; matters relating to proposed 
exploration, communications with local stakeholders and community relations; negotiations of joint 
ventures, negotiation and completion of transactions; commodity prices; mineral resources, mineral 
reserves, realization of mineral reserves, existence or realization of mineral resource estimates; the 
development approach, the timing and amount of future production, timing of studies, announcements 
and analyses, the timing of construction and development of proposed mines and process facilities; 
capital and operating expenditures; economic conditions; availability of sufficient financing; exploration 
plans and any and all other timing, exploration, development, operational, financial, budgetary, 
economic, legal, social, regulatory and political matters that may influence or be influenced by future 
events or conditions.  
 
Such forward-looking information and statements are based on a number of material factors and 
assumptions, including, but not limited in any manner to, those disclosed in any other of Alacer Gold’s 
filings, and include the inherent speculative nature of exploration results; the ability to explore; 
communications with local stakeholders and community and governmental relations; status of 
negotiations of joint ventures; weather conditions at Alacer Gold’s operations, commodity prices; the 
ultimate determination of and realization of mineral reserves; existence or realization of mineral 
resources; the development approach; availability and final receipt of required approvals, titles, licenses 
and permits; sufficient working capital to develop and operate the mines and implement development 
plans; access to adequate services and supplies; foreign currency exchange rates; interest rates; access 
to capital markets and associated cost of funds; availability of a qualified work force; ability to negotiate, 
finalize and execute relevant agreements; lack of social opposition to the mines or facilities; lack of legal 
challenges with respect to the property of Alacer; the timing and amount of future production and 
ability to meet production, cost and capital expenditure targets; timing and ability to produce studies 
and analyses; capital and operating expenditures; economic conditions; availability of sufficient 
financing; the ultimate ability to mine, process and sell mineral products on economically favorable 
terms and any and all other timing, exploration, development, operational, financial, budgetary, 
economic, legal, social, regulatory and political factors that may influence future events or conditions. 
While we consider these factors and assumptions to be reasonable based on information currently 
available to us, they may prove to be incorrect. 
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You should not place undue reliance on forward-looking information and statements. Forward-looking 
information and statements are only predictions based on our current expectations and our projections 
about future events. Actual results may vary from such forward-looking information for a variety of 
reasons, including but not limited to risks and uncertainties disclosed in Alacer Gold’s filings at 
www.sedar.com and other unforeseen events or circumstances. Other than as required by law, Alacer 
Gold does not intend, and undertakes no obligation to update any forward-looking information to 
reflect, among other things, new information or future events. 
 
Non-IFRS Measures 
 
This MD&A contains the following non‐IFRS financial performance measures with no standardized 
definitions under IFRS: Cash Operating Costs per ounce; Total Cash Costs per ounce; All‐in Sustaining 
Costs per ounce; All‐in Costs per ounce and Adjusted Net Profit. For further information and detailed 
reconciliations, see the “Non‐IFRS Measures” section of this MD&A. 
 
Mineral Reserves and Resources 
 
All mineral reserves and resources referenced in this MD&A and the Corporation’s other public filings 
are determined in accordance with National Instrument 43-101, Standards of Disclosure for Mineral 
Projects (“NI 43-101”) of the Canadian Securities Administrators and Canadian Institute of Mining, 
Metallurgy and Petroleum standards and the 2012 Edition of the Australasian Code for Reporting of 
Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves. While terms associated with various 
categories of “reserve” or “resource” are recognized and required by Canadian regulations, they may 
not have equivalent meanings in other jurisdictions outside Canada and no comparison should be made 
or inferred. Actual recoveries of mineral products may differ from mineral reserves and resources due to 
inherent uncertainties in acceptable estimating techniques. In particular, “indicated” and “inferred” 
mineral resources have a great amount of uncertainty as to their existence, economic and legal 
feasibility. It cannot be assumed that all or any part of an “indicated” or “inferred” mineral resource will 
ever be upgraded to a higher category of resource. Investors are cautioned not to assume that all or any 
part of the mineral deposits in these categories will ever be converted into proven and probable 
reserves. 
 
The information in this MD&A which relates to exploration results and mineral resources is based on, 
and fairly represents, information and supporting documentation prepared by James Francis, BSc (Hons) 
Geology and MSc Mining Geology, MAusIMM, MAIG, who is a full-time employee of Alacer Gold.  Mr. 
Francis has sufficient experience which is relevant to the style of mineralization and type of deposit 
under consideration and to the activity which is being undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person as 
defined in the 2012 Edition of the “Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral 
Resources and Ore Reserves” and a qualified person pursuant to National Instrument 43-101 – 
Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects of the Canadian Securities Administrators.  Mr. Francis 
consents to the inclusion in this announcement of the matters based on this information in the form and 
context in which it appears. 
 
Additional Information and Risk Factors 
 
Additional information relating to the Corporation, including risk factors that may adversely affect or 
prevent Alacer Gold from carrying out all or portions of its business strategy are discussed in the 
Corporation’s Annual Information Form and other filings available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 
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Overview 
 
Alacer Gold is a leading intermediate gold mining company with an 80% interest in the world‐class 
Çöpler Gold Mine in Turkey. Alacer Gold also has eleven active exploration projects in Turkey which are 
joint ventures with our Turkish partner, Lidya Mining. 
 
Alacer Gold is a Canadian corporation incorporated in the Yukon Territory with its primary listing on the 
Toronto Stock Exchange.  CHESS Depository Interests (“CDI”) trade on the Australian Securities Exchange 
(“ASX”). 
 

Strategy and Outlook 
 
Alacer Gold is focused on delivering strong operating results, strong financial results and value-adding 
growth by adhering to four guiding principles: 
 

 Maximize portfolio value; 
 Minimize project risk; 
 Maximize free cash flow; and 
 Create value for shareholders 

 
During 2013, Alacer Gold demonstrated its commitment to these principles by undertaking 
transformational changes to its business.  The changes primarily involved divesting all of its poorly 
performing Australian assets (the “ABU”) through two strategic transactions, and redirection of focus to 
Turkey.  Following the changes, Alacer Gold is in a strong position to leverage its world-class asset base 
in Turkey which produces gold in the industry’s lowest cost quartile. 
 
Alacer Gold has been successfully operating in Turkey since 1996 and is a well-respected gold producer.  
Alacer Gold has an excellent local partner, Lidya Mining, with joint venture agreements to operate the 
Çöpler Mine, undertake exploration and jointly share in any future acquisitions by either company in 
Turkey. 
 
Çöpler Sulfides 
 
Alacer remains on track to deliver the sulfide DFS in Q2 2014. The design, engineering and procurement 
studies are nearing completion and will soon be subject to the Corporation’s internal review.  In 
addition, the supplemental Environmental Impact Assessment for the project contemplated in the DFS 
will be submitted during March 2014. 
 
During 2013 more than 1.3 million tonnes of sulfide ore were added to stockpiles with an average gold 
grade of 4.94g/t. The grade of the sulfide ore mined is significantly higher than was predicted by the 
resource block models.  In 2013 there has been a positive reconciliation of 39% on a contained ounce 
basis, composed of lower than expected tonnage and higher than expected gold grade.  
 
The positive sulfide gold reconciliation was initially encountered in the Manganese Pit where the 
majority of mining took place in 2013.  During 2013, sulfide ore stockpiled from this pit totaled 0.8 
million tonnes at 4.50g/t gold, a positive reconciliation of 36% on a contained ounce basis.  In July 2013, 
the Corporation began initial steps to investigate why this positive bias was occurring in the Manganese 
Pit. The positive gold reconciliation continued as mining of sulfide ore progressed into the Main and 
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Marble Pits towards the end of 2013. Sulfide ore stockpiled from the Main and Marble Pits in 2013 
totaled 0.5 million tonnes at 5.57 g/t gold, a positive reconciliation of 41% on a contained ounce basis.   
 
The continuing trend of substantial positive gold reconciliation across all three pits has recently led the 
Corporation to commence a systematic and structured project to understand the causes of the positive 
reconciliations on a mine-wide basis. This work includes reviewing the drilling database, the sulfide 
resource estimation methodology, the characteristics of the sulfide ore mined to date and completing a 
discrete validation drilling program. This reconciliation bias has the potential to provide significant 
upside to the DFS, especially from the Main Pit which contains the majority (+60%) of Çöpler’s sulfide 
ore.  However, until such work is complete, the impact on the DFS is unknown and therefore subject to 
uncertainty. 
 
To the extent possible, the outcomes of this resource reconciliation project will be incorporated into the 
DFS. The ability to incorporate this work will be dependent on the timely completion of the project and 
the validation drilling program. While this ongoing work may be very important to the DFS, it will not 
preclude the completion of the DFS in Q2 2014. 
 
Strong Balance Sheet 
 
Alacer Gold had cash and cash equivalents1 of $289.6 million at December 31, 2013 and is debt free.  
The balance sheet is expected to strengthen in the short-term as working capital continues to increase 
and strong cash flow is generated from Çöpler operations. The strong balance sheet provides Alacer 
Gold with the ability to fund strategic investments to provide value for our shareholders. 
 
Low Cost Producer 
 
Alacer Gold’s immediate focus for Çöpler is to maximize value from the existing open pit and heap leach 
oxide operations.  Çöpler continues to perform extremely well and is projected to be one of the lowest 
All-in Costs2 gold producers globally in 2014, providing our shareholders with industry-leading margins 
on each ounce of gold produced. Alacer Gold expects costs at Çöpler to remain low for the next few 
years as gold is extracted from oxide ore, through heap leaching exclusively. 
  
Turkey – Organic Growth Potential 
 
Alacer Gold is exploring the existing Çöpler District with the primary focus being to discover additional 
oxide ore.  Alacer Gold believes that Çöpler is likely to be the first of several gold deposits in the Çöpler 
District. 
 
The Çöpler District surrounds the Çöpler orebody and is a key focus area for Alacer Gold.  As shown in 
the map below, Alacer Gold holds licenses through its 80% owned subsidiary, Anagold Madencilik Sanayi 
Ve Ticaret Anonim Şirketi (“Anagold”), and through a 50/50 joint venture with Lidya Mining.  These 
licenses cover an area approximately 15x25 kilometer (“km”) in size.   
 

                                            
1 Includes approximately $25.5 million expected to be paid to Lidya Mining in the first half of  2014 as a distribution of its share of 2013 Çöpler profits 
2 All-in Cost is a non-IFRS financial performance measures with no standardized definition under IFRS. For further information and detailed 

reconciliations, see the “Non-IFRS Measures” section of this MD&A. 
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Exploration of the Çöpler District is in the early stages. Geochemical surveys undertaken during 2012 
and 2013 identified numerous gold-in-soil anomalies that were significantly stronger than typically 
expected over such a large area and demonstrate the scale and potential of this mineralized system. 
Çöpler District exploration progressed rapidly during 2013 with $12.1 million of exploration spending.  
The exploration program included taking soil samples over the remainder of the licenses in the Çöpler 
District as well as ground geophysics and mapping to better define drill targets on these gold anomalies. 
Early drill testing of the most prospective targets was undertaken and results are currently being 
assessed. Just over 70% of the Çöpler District has been tested using soil geochemistry as of December 
2013. 
 
Beyond the Çöpler District, Alacer Gold continued regional exploration activities in Turkey, the most 
advanced of which is the Cevizlidere copper-gold porphyry deposit, located in the Tunceli Province, and 
the Dursunbey polymetallic deposit, which is located in the Balıkesir Province.  Drilling continues at 
Dursunbey as part of the Polimetal Joint Venture (“Polimetal JV”) with our partner, Lidya Mining. 
Preparatory work is currently being undertaken prior to recommencing drilling at Cevizlidere. 
 
Sale of Australian Assets   
 
On April 8, 2013, the Corporation completed the sale of its 49% minority interest in the Frog’s Leg Mine 
joint venture and related assets to La Mancha Resources Australia Pty Limited for total consideration of 
$149.2 million. On October 29, 2013, the Corporation completed the sale of its remaining Australian 
assets to a subsidiary of Metals X Limited, an Australian public company for total consideration of $40.3 
million. The results of ABU operations up to the date of disposal have all been presented as components 
of discontinued operations in the Consolidated Statements of Profit (Loss). The Corporation recorded a 
Net loss from discontinued operations of $515.2 and $552.3 million for 2013 and 2012, respectively. 
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2014 Guidance 
 
In 2014, The Corporation expects to produce approximately 160,000 to 180,000 attributable gold 
ounces1 at an All-in Costs/ounce2 of $730 to $780.  
 
Assumptions underlying Alacer Gold’s 2014 outlook include the minerals reserves and resources as set 
out in the Corporation’s Annual Information Form for the year ended December 31, 2013, a gold price of 
$1,300 per ounce and a USD:TRY exchange rate of 2.00.  Approximately 50% of the Corporation’s costs 
are denominated in Turkish Lira. 
 
Capital expenditures for 2014 are forecast to be approximately $17 million on an 80% attributable basis, 
of which $14 million are estimated to be sustaining capital expenditures. 
 
The 2014 forecast for exploration expenditure is approximately $9.4 million on an attributable basis. 
  

                                            
1  Attributable gold production is reduced by the 20% non-controlling interest at Çöpler. 
2  All-in Costs/ounce is a non-IFRS financial performance measures with no standardized definition under IFRS. For further information and 

detailed reconciliations, see the “Non-IFRS Measures” section of this MD&A. 
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2013 Highlights  
 
Strategic 
 The DFS for a 5,000 tonne per day whole-ore pressure oxidation processing method for Çöpler sulfide 

ore is progressing to plan and is on track to be released in Q2 2014.  
 On September 23, 2013 the Corporation released a four-year oxide production profile for Çöpler, 

highlighting the continued contributions through 2017 from its low-cost heap leach operation in 
Turkey. 

 The executive management team was reduced in conjunction with the Corporation’s new strategy to 
focus on Turkey. The reductions will result in decreased general and administrative costs in 2014. 

 On April 30, 2013, the Corporation paid a special dividend of $0.24 per share totaling $70.3 million. 
 The Corporation divested its Australian assets during the year via two strategic transactions that 

completed on April 8 and October 29, 2013.  
  

Operational - Çöpler 
 A milestone was passed in November 2013 when Çöpler reached two million man-hours worked 

without a lost-time injury. 
 Record annual gold production was achieved, with  216,850 attributable ounces1 poured for the year.  
 Improvements to the crushing/agglomerating and stacking circuits during 2013 led to increased ore 

throughput and gold recoveries.  The ratio between gold produced and contained gold in ore stacked 
increased to 66% for 2013.  

 All-in Costs/ounce2 were  $864 for 2013.  
 SART plant construction was completed and the plant dry-commissioned during Q4 2013 with operation 

expected to start in 2014 as copper volumes in the leach solution increase. 
 The Corporation announced on July 25, 2013 that the Çöpler Measured and Indicated Resource 

increased to 8.5 million ounces of gold.  
 1.3 million tonnes of sulfide ore were added to stockpiles during 2013 with an average grade of 4.94 g/t. 

Sulfide ore mined is providing significant positive gold reconciliation to the resource block models 
and to date has led to a 39% positive reconciliation on a contained ounce basis composed of lower than 
expected tonnage and higher than expected gold grade.  Extensive work is being undertaken   to 
understand the factors contributing to these positive gold reconciliations and until such work is 
complete, the impact of such reconciliation on the DFS is unknown and therefore subject to uncertainty.  
 

Financial  
 The Corporation ended 2013 with cash and cash equivalents of $289.6 million3.  
 The Corporation had no external debt at December 31, 2013. 
 Working capital increased by $126.7 million during the year to $315.3 million. 
 Attributable net profit from continuing operations was $68.0 million for 2013. 
 Adjusted Net Profit5 was $111.7 million, or  $0.39  per share, for 2013. 
 Operating cash flow from continuing operations totaled $184.5 million for 2013. 
 Free cash flow4 for the Corporation totaled $12.4 million and on March 12, 2014, the Corporation’s 

Board of Directors declared a dividend of $0.02 per share (approximately $5.8 million) payable on April 
15, 2014 (in Canada) to shareholders of record at the close of business on March 31, 2014.  

                                            
1  Attributable gold production is reduced by the 20% non-controlling interest at Çöpler. 
2  All-in Costs/ounce and Adjusted Net Profit are non-IFRS financial performance measures with no standardized definition under IFRS. For further 

information and detailed reconciliations, see the “Non-IFRS Measures” section of this MD&A. 
3 Includes approximately $25.5 million expected to be paid to Lidya Mining in the first half of 2014 as a distribution of its share of 2013 Çöpler profits. 
4  Free cash flow is a non-IFRS measure and represents the net change in cash balance subject to the Corporation’s dividend policy. 
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Discontinued Operations 
 
The Australian assets met the criteria to be classified as a discontinued operations as set forth in IFRS 5, 
“Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”.  As a result, the Corporation has 
presented the results of these mines as discontinued operations in the consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended December 31, 2013, and has made the following adjustments to previously reported 
amounts: 
 

 

  Current Period Presentation Prior Period Presentation 
Consolidated Statements of 
Financial Position 

As of December 31, 2013 all Australian 
assets have been sold and are no 
longer presented in the statements. 

Balances for the prior period 
(December 31, 2012) are not restated.   

Consolidated Statements of 
Profit (Loss) 

All results of Australian operations are 
presented in a single line, net of taxes, 
after presentation of net profit of 
continuing operations.   

Further details regarding the net 
amounts presented on the face of the 
consolidated financial statements are 
included in footnote 21. 

All prior period Australian operations 
amounts have been restated to reflect 
the current classification as 
discontinued operations. 

 

 

Note: For all periods presented, continuing operations in these statements have 
been restated to represent the results of the Turkish Business Unit and Corporate 
operations only. 

Consolidated Statements of 
Cash Flows 

All results of Australian operations are 
presented in a single line, after 
presenting the cash flows from 
continuing operations. 

Further details regarding the net 
amounts presented on the face of the 
statements are included in footnote 21. 

All prior period Australian operations 
amounts have been restated to reflect 
the current classification as 
discontinued operations. 

Note: For all periods presented, continuing operations in these statements have 
been restated to represent the results of the Turkish Business Unit and Corporate 
operations only. 

 

In accordance with the discontinued operations categorization in the consolidated financial statements, 
the results of the Australian operations are presented in a consolidated form throughout this MD&A, 
and general disclosures and updates are presented to allow the reader to understand the discontinued 
operations. The term “Group” refers to instances where continuing and discontinued operations are 
reported together.  
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Results of Continuing Operations 
 

The following table summarizes production results from continuing operations of the Corporation.  
 

Q1 2013 Q2 2013 Q3 2013 Q4 2013 2013 2012

Çöpler Gold Mine: 1

Waste tonnes mined 4,914,386   5,241,673    4,694,066    5,833,161    20,683,286 18,071,316  
Oxide ore mined - tonnes 1,787,169   1,773,536    1,715,571    1,397,244    6,673,520    7,036,221    
Oxide ore mined - grade (g/t) 2.11             2.17              1.67              1.57              1.90              1.61              
Oxide ore mined - ounces 121,049      123,692       91,969          70,680          407,390       364,000       

Sulfide ore mined - tonnes 2 238,121      414,703       336,787       356,271       1,345,882    190,024       

Sulfide ore mined - grade (g/t)2 4.92             4.68              5.34              4.86              4.94              4.16              

Sulfide ore stockpiled - ounces 2 37,699        62,367          57,865          55,661          213,592       25,413          
Oxide ore treated - tonnes 1,802,973   1,778,827    1,704,528    1,410,881    6,697,209    7,077,727    
Oxide ore treated - head grade (g/t) 2.14             2.13              1.70              1.59              1.91              1.65              
Ratio between gold produced and contained gold in ore stacked 44% 56% 87% 93% 66% 50%
Gold ounces produced 54,604        68,195          81,059          67,205          271,063       188,756       

Gold ounces sold 55,954        66,109          81,326          69,963          273,352       202,851       
Çöpler Attributable: (80% ownership) 

Gold ounces produced3 43,683        54,556          64,847          53,764          216,850       151,005       

Gold ounces sold3 44,763        52,887          65,061          55,970          218,682       162,281       

Cash Operating Costs/ounce sold4 397$            360$             377$             525$             414$             335$             

Total Cash Costs/ounce sold4 439$            395$             342$             554$             429$             375$             

All-in Sustaining Costs/ounce sold4,5 899$            885$             697$             833$             820$             N/A

All-in Costs/ounce sold4,5 951$            916$             701$             902$             864$             N/A

Average realized gold price 1,618$        1,356$          1,338$          1,259$          1,379$         1,664$          
 
 

1 Çöpler production data represents 100% for all periods presented, unless indicated by footnote 3. 
2 Sulfide ores are being stockpiled and reported as long-term inventory. 
3 Reflects impacts of 20% non-controlling interest. 
4 Cash Operating Costs/ounce, Total Cash Costs/ounce, All-in Sustaining Costs/ounce and All-in Costs/ounce are non-IFRS financial 

performance measures with no standardized definitions under IFRS. For further information and detailed reconciliations, see the “Non-IFRS 
Measures” section below. 

5 Reporting of All-in Sustaining Costs/ounce and All-in Costs/ounce commenced during 2013, no comparative calculations have been made. 
 
Full Year 2013 vs. Full Year 2012 
 
Attributable gold production of  216,850  ounces was 44% higher than 2012. This increase in production 
was due to a trend of higher head grades stacked on the leach pad and improved gold recoveries from 
irrigated ore.  In addition, improvements in material handling and the efficiency of leaching activities 
contributed to the higher gold production achieved as discussed below. 
 
Total material mined in 2013 of 28.7 million tonnes included oxide ore, sulfide ore and waste, compared 
to 25.3 million tonnes in 2012.  Contained oxide ounces mined increased by 12%, reflecting an 18% 
increase in oxide ore grade mined offset by a 5% decrease in oxide tonnes mined.  This increase in grade 
was driven by access to higher grades in the Manganese Pit following re-scheduling of the pit sequence 
and continuing positive grade reconciliation from the Manganese Pit.  During the year, the mining 
sequence was changed to address material handling challenges from the higher clay ore from the 
Marble and Main Pits. This higher clay ore was blended with harder ore from the Manganese Pit to 
provide suitable product to the crushing circuit.  Overall improvements in the crushing circuit were 
implemented during 2013 and resulted in a 35% increase in throughput to 5.8 million tonnes, with a 
corresponding 67% decrease in run-of-mine ore (“ROM ore”) placed directly onto the leach pad.  The 
placement of ROM ore to the leach pad was substantially eliminated by the end of September 2013 and 
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is not planned to occur in 2014. Total ore placed on the leach pad decreased by 5% to 6.7 million tonnes 
in 2013.  This included 1.1 million tonnes of high clay content ore which was processed predominantly 
through the clay-handling bypass circuit, and with a minor amount of material processed through the 
new clay-handling circuit during initial commissioning in December 2013. 
 
The improvements in the primary crushing circuit and commissioning of the new clay-handling circuit 
have substantially increased operational flexibility to mine both harder ore from the Manganese pit and 
high clay content ore from the Marble and Main Pits. Improvement efforts included work done on 
chutes, conveyor system and stacking system at the leach pad.  Improvements have also been made to 
the stacking sequence and irrigation of stacked ore following the completion of the Heap Leach Pad 
Phase 3 construction work in Q4 2013. 
 
These improvements in the ore handling system and heap leach activities, plus the cumulative 
recoverable gold now stacked on the leach pad, have resulted in the ratio between gold produced and 
contained gold in ore stacked increasing to 66% for 2013, from 50% in 2012.  The Corporation continues 
to focus on improving the ore handling system’s efficiency to process high clay content ore and on 
optimizing the agglomeration, stacking sequence and leach cycles. 
 
Sulfide ore stockpiles at December 31, 2013 totaled 1.5 million tonnes at 4.84 g/t or 239,005 contained 
gold ounces.  Sulfide ore mined is providing significant positive grade reconciliation to the reserve block 
models.  To date, on a contained ounce basis this has led to a 39% positive reconciliation. This 
reconciliation bias could have the potential to provide significant positive impacts to the DFS and 
extensive work is being undertaken to understand the factors contributing to these positive grade 
reconciliations.  This work includes reviewing the drilling database, how the sulfide resource has been 
estimated and the characteristics of the sulfide ore mined to date. Until such work is complete, the 
impact of such reconciliation and its impact on the DFS is unknown and therefore subject to uncertainty. 
 
Cash Operating Costs/ounce1 of  $414  were 24% higher than 2012. Factors influencing the increase 
were an 11% increase in processing costs due to an increase in reagent consumption which provided a 
higher concentration of cyanide in irrigation solution, the operation of the new clay handling bypass 
circuit, and increased maintenance costs associated with the pad stacking conveyors. Overall crushing 
and stacking related costs also increased in 2013 due to the 35% increase in throughput rates noted 
above. Cash Operating Costs/ounce1, as compared to 2012, increased due to the higher opening 
weighted average cost of ounces in the inventory accounting model.   
 
During 2013, the Corporation renegotiated terms with the mining contractor, resulting in a cost 
decrease of 20% on a per tonne mined basis.  This decrease in unit rate, coupled with a 16% 
improvement in ore grade processed, drove a reduction in mining cost per ounce which was offset by a 
reduction in capitalized stripping costs in 2013 compared to 2012 to give a flat net mining cost per 
ounce processed in 2013. 
 
A thorough review of the inventory costing model was conducted in Q4 2013 which identified $5.7 
million of non-cash adjustments between inventory balances and cost of goods sold. 
                                            
1 Cash Operating Costs/ounce, Total Cash Costs/ounce, All-in Sustaining Costs/ounce and All-in Costs/ounce are non-IFRS financial performance 
measures with no standardized definitions under IFRS. For further information and detailed reconciliations, see the “Non-IFRS Measures” 
section below. 
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Total Cash Costs/ounce1 of  $429  includes both the impact of the inventory adjustment noted above 
and the benefit of a reduction in royalty expenses arising from confirmation that an allowable 
concession may be applied. 
 
All-in Sustaining Costs/ounce1 were $820 and All-in Costs/ounce1 were  $864.  The cost basis for both 
measures include one-time sustaining capital project costs related to SART development ($26.5 million), 
the clay-handling circuit and agglomerator upgrade ($16.7 million) and information systems upgrade 
($1.9 million). These costs represent approximately $165/ounce in both of these measures. 
 
Investments in Mineral Properties and Equipment 
 
A summary of the cash invested in capital activities for the year ended 2013 is presented below: 
 

Capital Investments (in '000) 2013

Sustaining and general capital - Çöpler1

Open-pit mine development  $      12,133 

Sulfidization, Acidification, Recirculation and Thickening (“SART”) Plant          26,535 

General plant, deferred stripping asset and other          28,455 
         67,123 

Growth capital - Çöpler1

Sulfide project             7,383 
            7,383 

Corporate office             1,939 
Total capital spending – Continuing operations          76,445  

 

1 Amounts presented for Çöpler represent 100% of investments made. 
 
Sustaining capital expenditures are generally defined as those that support the ongoing operation of the 
asset or business without any associated increase in capacity or future earnings and are mostly 
considered non-discretionary.  Growth capital expenditures are generally defined as those that expand 
existing capacity and/or increase future earnings and are considered discretionary. 
 
Sustaining and general capital – Çöpler 
 
The Çöpler Heap Leach Phase 3 expansion construction started in Q4 2012 and was completed in Q4 
2013 at a total cost of $11.6 million. Overliner placement was also completed during 2013 and stacking 
commenced in Q4 2013.  The addition of Phase 3 increased total leach pad capacity to 42 million tonnes 
of ore.   
 

                                            
1 Cash Operating Costs/ounce, Total Cash Costs/ounce, All-in Sustaining Costs/ounce and All-in Costs/ounce are non-IFRS financial performance 
measures with no standardized definitions under IFRS. For further information and detailed reconciliations, see the “Non-IFRS Measures” 
section below. 
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The Corporation has installed a SART plant to control copper in heap leach solutions and all major 
construction activities were completed during 2013. The plant was dry-commissioned during Q4 2013 
with operation expected to start in mid-2014 as copper volumes in the leach solution increase. The SART 
plant is estimated to cost $31.6 million. To date, the Corporation has spent $31.4 million.   
 
Other capital expenditures include the clay-handling circuit and new agglomerator.  Work on the clay- 
handling circuit was completed in late October 2013 and commissioned in December 2013.  The 
agglomerator construction continues to be targeted for completion and commissioning during Q2 2014. 
The clay-handling circuit and new agglomerator have incurred costs of $16.7 million to date with an 
estimated total cost at completion of $19.1 million.  Additional capital projects currently under 
construction include a new storm pond and new assay lab, with a combined total project cost of $6.1 
million, of which $4.2 million was spent in 2013.  
 
Growth capital – Çöpler 
 
Amounts incurred represent continuing technical evaluations and reviews associated with determining 
the method to be used for processing sulfide ore at Çöpler.  As noted above, the Corporation has 
commenced a DFS for whole-ore pressure oxidization as the processing method for sulfide ore at Çöpler.  
The DFS is progressing to plan and is on track to be released in Q2 2014. 
 
Exploration and Evaluation 
 

2013 Exploration spending (in '000)
Alacer 

Contribution 
(%)

Exploration 
100%

Exploration 
Attributable

Çöpler 80%  $     11,309  $           9,047 
Çöpler district 50%           6,088                3,044 
Turkey Regional - Polimetal 20%           6,310                1,262 
Turkey Regional - Cevizlidere 50%               607                   304 
Other 100%               512                   512 

Total  $     24,826  $         14,169 

Reconciliation:

Amounts capitalized to exploration properties (100%)  $       9,707 

Amounts expensed, continuing operations (100%)           3,081 

Corporation's share of Joint venture exploration expenditures           4,801 

Exploration costs borne by JV partner           7,237  
 
Exploration Results 
 
Çöpler Exploration Program 
 
Drilling in 2013 focused on infill and extensional drilling of oxide mineralization at West Zone and Main 
Zone to define the open-pit limits and infrastructure layouts at the western margin of the Çöpler valley.  
A total of 35,912 meters (“m”) of drilling was completed to identify extensions to known oxide and 
sulfide mineralization to the west of Çöpler as well as below the limits of the current open pit design. 
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The Corporation released an updated Çöpler resource estimate on July 25, 2013 that incorporated 
mining depletion and drilling assay results from August 1, 2012 up until May 31, 2013. This update has 
resulted in Measured and Indicated (“M+I”) resources increasing to 194.2 million tonnes at a grade of 
1.4 g/t gold, containing a total of 8.5 million ounces (inclusive of reserves) as at June 30, 2013, and forms 
the basis of ongoing Çöpler oxide and sulfide mine studies.    
 

 
Note: Resources are quoted after mining depletion and are inclusive of reserves. Resources are shown on a 100% 
basis, of which Alacer Gold owns 80%.  Stockpiles include both oxide and sulfide stockpiles and residual ore stacked 
on the heap leach stockpiles. Pursuant to ASX listing rule 5.23.2, Alacer confirms that it is not aware of any new 
information or data that materially affects the information in that announcement and that all material assumptions 
and technical parameters underpinning the estimates continue to apply and have not materially changed   

 
Çöpler District Exploration Program 
 
Alacer Gold believes that the Çöpler Mine could be the first of several gold deposits to be discovered 
and mined in the Çöpler District. The current priority for Çöpler District exploration is to discover 
shallow oxide gold ore which could leverage the existing infrastructure at the Çöpler Mine. 
 
Geological, geochemical and geophysical survey activities increased across the Çöpler District in 2013.   
A total of 20,758m of drilling including 9,943m of diamond drilling and 10,814m of reverse circulation 
(“RC”) drilling were completed, along with 161 line kilometers of induced polarization (“IP”) geophysical 
survey, 820 line kilometers of magnetic geophysical survey, 4,953 soil samples and 1,587 rock samples. 
 
Drill testing commenced on several coincident gold geochemical anomalies and geophysical targets 
along the Karakartal-Findiklidere-Bayramdere-Yakuplu trend. 
 
The Yakuplu prospect is located about 6 km to the northeast of Çöpler gold mine. Surface geochemical 
anomalism and mapping highlighted an area of near-surface potential oxide gold mineralization within 
recrystallized limestone and at the contact with ophiolites. The RC program is currently continuing in 

Mineral Resource for the Çöpler Deposit (100%) as at June 30, 2013 
Gold  

Cut-off 
Grade 
(g/t) 

Material 
Type 

Resource  
Category 

Tonnes 
(million) 

Gold 
Grade 
(g/t) 

Contained  
Gold  

(million  
ounces) 

0.3 Oxide 

Measured 16.3 1.7 0.9 

Indicated 36.5 0.8 1.0 

Measured + Indicated 52.8 1.1 1.8 

Inferred 25.7 0.6 0.5 

0.8 Sulfide 

Measured 74.0 1.6 3.8 

Indicated 46.9 1.5 2.2 

Measured + Indicated 120.9 1.5 6.0 

Inferred 23.9 1.2 1.0 

Variable Stockpiles Measured 20.4 1.0 0.7 

Variable Total 

Measured 110.7 1.5 5.4 

Indicated 83.4 1.2 3.2 

Measured + Indicated 194.2 1.4 8.5 

Inferred 49.6 0.9 1.4 
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order to define down dip and lateral extension of near-surface oxide gold mineralization intersected in 
the previous drilling phase. 
 
The Bayramdere prospect is also located about 6 km to the southeast of Çöpler along the north-
northwest mineralized trend. Encouraging near-surface high-grade oxide gold mineralization has been 
confirmed by the drilling completed in late 2013. 
 
The new Aslantepe prospect, which contains porphyry-style copper-gold mineralization, is located about 
2 km east-southeast of the Bayramdere target area under alluvial cover which hides the mineralization. 
The highest rock grab sample from the potassically altered porphyry mineralization returned 1.3g/t gold 
and 0.6% copper. Detailed exploration work is in progress and drilling is planned for the area in 2014. 
 
Demirmağara lies approximately 6 km to the southwest of Çöpler along the strike of the regional Çöpler 
Fault.  Oxide gold mineralization was identified from surface mapping with initial drill testing by three 
diamond drill holes completed in 2005 (that included 23m at 1.1g/t gold from 129m in DMH003).  A 
total of four diamond drill holes were recently completed at Demirmağara and identified narrow 
intervals of moderately oxidized skarn mineralization.  Further drilling is required to determine the size 
and scale of the identified mineralization. Additional drill targets including Demirmağara south, Bahçe 
and Yakuplu have been defined following regional geochemical and geophysical surveys and detailed 
geological mapping. The targets are planned to be drill tested in 2014.  
 
The Corporation owns 80% of the licenses adjacent to Çöpler under the Anagold Joint Venture and 50% of 
the remaining licenses in the Çöpler District under the Kartaltepe Joint Venture, both in partnership with 
Lidya Mining. All of the prospects discussed above are in the Kartaltepe Joint Venture except for 
Demirmağara and Bahçe. 
 
Other Turkey exploration joint ventures 
 
Cevizlidere is the most advanced project in Alacer’s regional exploration portfolio, located in the Tunceli 
Province. Alacer Gold is currently undertaking preparatory work prior to recommencing drilling at 
Cevizlidere. Cevizlidere is 50% owned through the Tunçpinar Joint Venture.  
 
Cevizlidere contains a copper-gold-molybdenum porphyry deposit that has not been drilled since 2005 
and remains open to the southeast and at depth. The mineralization is associated with multiple 
porphyry intrusions and zoned alteration. Supergene alteration and redistribution of copper 
mineralization has created a near-surface enriched zone. An Inferred Resource has been estimated of 
445.7 million tonnes at 0.38% copper, 0.11g/t gold, and 48ppm molybdenum, containing 1.7 million 
tonnes of copper and 1.6 million ounces gold. Further information on this resource is available in the 
Technical Report on the Cevizlidere Porphyry Deposit file on www.sedar.com. Geophysics and geological 
mapping indicates several other alteration and porphyry systems within the Cevizlidere project licenses. 
 
Drilling continued on two other gold projects in Turkey at Dursunbey and Akoluk as part of the Polimetal 
Joint Venture (“Polimetal JV”) with our partner, Lidya Mining. The Polimetal JV is managed by Lidya 
Mining, and covers 18 licenses and 43,088 hectares across Turkey. The Corporation elected to dilute its 
ownership in Polimetal Madencilik Sanayi Ticaret Anonim Şirketi joint venture (Polimetal), from 50% in 
2012 to 20% during 2013. The Corporation retains the right to claw back its full 50% interest in any 
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project by matching Lidya’s historical project exploration spend within 60 days of the completion of a 
Preliminary Economic Assessment. 
 
The Dursunbey property is located approximately 190 km to the south south-east of Istanbul in the 
Balıkesir Province. An ore definition grid drilling program commenced in November 2013 at Dursunbey 
and is in progress with one RC and 4 diamond rigs. The Corporation has elected to exercise the right to 
claw back ownership in the Dursunbey Project to 50%.   
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Financial Highlights 
 
A summary of the Corporation’s financial results for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 
are presented below.  Unless otherwise noted, this table relates to continuing operations.  See Note 21 
in the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information regarding discontinued operations. 
 

Consolidated Financial Summary (in '000, except for per share) 2013 2012 2011
Gold sales 377,081$   337,575$     230,693$     
Less:

Production costs 117,169     76,145         47,776         
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 37,387       23,979         10,851         

Mining gross profit 222,525$   237,451$     172,066$     
Amounts attributable to owners of the corporation:

Net profit from continuing operations 67,998$     166,358$     58,200$       
Net profit from continuing operations per share – basic 0.24$          0.58$            0.22$            
Net profit from continuing operations per share – diluted 0.23$          0.58$            0.22$            

Net loss from discontinued operations (515,199)$ (552,320)$   17,049$       
Net loss from discontinued operations per share – basic (1.78)$        (1.93)$          0.07$            
Net loss from discontinued operations per share – diluted (1.78)$        (1.93)$          0.07$            

Total net profit (loss) (447,201)$ (385,962)$   75,249$       
Total net profit per share - basic (1.55)$        (1.35)$          0.29$            
Total net profit per share – diluted (1.55)$        (1.35)$          0.29$            

Adjusted Net Profit from continuing operations1 111,669$   111,301$     108,513$     
Adjusted Net Profit from continuing operations per share1 0.39$          0.39$            0.42$            

Dividend paid (70,309)$    -$                  -$                  
Dividend paid - per share 0.24$          
Cash Flows

Operating cash flows from continuing operations 184,542$   174,186$     154,977$     
Investing cash flows from continuing operations (37,413)      (61,268)        58,398         
Financing cash flows from continuing operations (112,826)    (27,678)        14,841         

Change in cash flows from continuing operations 34,303       85,240         228,216       

Net increase/(decrease) in cash from discontinued operations (20,033)      (58,200)        4,482            

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (1,879)        653               (1,859)          

Change in total Group cash 12,391$     27,693$       230,839$     

Ending cash and cash equivalents (Continuing operations) 289,649$   277,258$     249,565$     

As of

31-Dec-13 31-Dec-12 31-Dec-11
Financial Position

Working capital 1  $  315,265 188,567$     44,198$       

Total assets2  $  712,155 1,460,381$ 1,802,912$ 

Non-current l iabil ities 2         29,875 64,845$       109,007$     

Total equity       633,626 1,167,037$ 1,392,765$  
 

1 Adjusted Net Profit (Loss) and Adjusted Net Profit (Loss) per share are non-IFRS financial performance measures with no standardized 
definition under IFRS. For further information and a detailed reconciliation, see the “Non-IFRS Measures” section of this MD&A.  

2 Excludes assets classified as held for sale of $111,641 and $878,328, and liabilities associated with assets classified for sale of $71,626 and 
$166,684, as of December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively.  
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Full Year 2013 vs. Full Year 2012  
 
Gold sales from continuing operations of $377.1 million were 12% higher than  2012, reflecting a 35% 
increase in sales volume driven by an increase in gold production. This increase in sales volume was 
offset by a $285 or 17% decline in realized sale prices from  $1,664  to   $1,379.  Total cost of sales for 
2013 (production costs and DD&A) increased 54% as compared to 2012. This increase is mainly driven by 
increases in sales volume and unit price. Mining gross profit for 2013 declined from 2012 by 6%.  Factors 
influencing these period over period changes are predominantly production volume, sales price and 
costs per unit which are further discussed in “Results of Operations” above and “Gold Sales” below. 
 
Net loss from discontinued operations includes the impacts of post-tax impairment losses on re-
measurement taken in 2012 and 2013, and the results of operations for both periods.  The change in net 
loss from discontinued operations from 2012 to 2013 primarily reflects the impacts of post-tax 
impairment losses taken in the respective periods.  
 
Adjusted Net Profit for 2013 remained flat from 2012, and principally reflects the impacts of lower gold 
prices and higher per-ounce unit costs in 2013.   
 
Cash and cash equivalents increased $12.4 million during 2013 as compared to net increase of $27.7 
million for 2012.  This increase is mainly due to factors discussed in the following paragraph. 
 
Operating cash flows from continuing operations increased $10.4 million in 2013 as compared to 2012, 
reflecting higher sales volumes partially offset by lower unit prices for sales and higher operating costs.  
Investing outflows (excluding proceeds from discontinued operations) during 2013 exceeded those of 
2012 by $16.5 million and were primarily associated with the projects described above in “Investments 
in Mineral Properties and Equipment”. Financing outflows during 2013 increased $85.1 million as 
compared to 2012 primarily reflecting payment of a $70.3 million shareholder dividend in April 2013, a 
$31.2 million dividend payment to the non-controlling interest owner, and $11.9 million repayment of 
borrowings. Discontinued operations cash and cash equivalents decreased $20.0 and $58.2 million for 
2013 and 2012, respectively. 
 
As noted above under “Discontinued Operations”, the December 31, 2012 presentation of assets and 
liabilities were not restated to remove components related to the Australian Business Unit.  The working 
capital increase of $127 million reflects the net Turkish operations working capital increase of $62 
million, net proceeds received from the Australian asset sale of $40 million, and the portion of 
December 31, 2012 working capital amounts related to Australia which are no longer reflected due to 
the asset sale totaling approximately $30 million.  
 
Through December 31, 2013, total assets decreased by $748.2 million, total liabilities decreased by 
$214.8 million, and total equity decreased $533.4 million. The changes are primarily due to the sale of 
Australian assets, the Q2 2013 dividend payment to shareholders and the Q1 2013 dividend payment to 
the Çöpler minority interest owner, Lidya Mining.  These decreases in equity were partially offset by net 
profits from continuing operations. 
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Gold Sales 
 
Details of gold sales for the year ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 are presented below: 
 

2013 2012

Gold ounces sold from continuing operations 1 273,352      202,851       

Gold sales from continuing operations ($000) 377,081$    337,575$     

Average realized price 1,379$        1,664$          
Average London PM Fix 1,411$        1,669$          

 
1 Includes 100% of Çöpler. 

 
For 2013, Alacer Gold’s average realized gold prices were consistent with the corresponding average 
London PM Fix.  The decline in average price realized during both periods in 2013 as compared to 2012 
is consistent with price volatilities as discussed below under “Business Conditions and Trends”.  The 
Corporation is not currently using forward sale contracts or other derivative products for future gold 
sales. 
 
Other Costs related to continuing operations  
 
Details of other costs for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 are presented below: 
 

2013 2012
General and administrative  $     29,470  $       25,421 
Restructuring costs           4,990                      - 
Share-based employee compensation costs           5,292             7,069 
Foreign exchange (gain) loss           4,102             2,806 
Finance (income) expense             (657)         (29,675)
Other (gain) loss          (1,221)             1,353 
Total corporate and other  costs         41,976             6,974 
Income tax expense         75,144           16,636 

Total other costs  $  117,120  $       23,610  
 
Other costs reflect management costs, general expenditures and income taxes, which are not related to 
individual mining operations.  Significant variations from the prior period results are discussed below: 
 
General and administrative costs increased 16% for 2013.  This increase mainly reflects the impact of 
community donations of $3.5 million, including the construction of a primary school near the Çöpler 
gold mine and one-time donation paid to Colorado School of Mines. Cost cutting measures in the second 
half of 2013 are expected to be fully realized in 2014.  
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Restructuring costs for 2013 reflect severance payments associated with management restructuring 
undertaken as a result of the Corporation’s transformational changes to its business. 
 
Share‐based employee compensation costs are non-cash charges relating to the amortization of costs 
associated with stock options and restricted stock units (“RSU”) over their respective vesting periods.  
The decline in expense during 2013 is due to the reclassification of relevant costs as restructuring and 
RSU cancellations.   
 
Finance (income) expense, represent interest expense, gains and losses on financial instruments, 
unwinding of rehabilitation provision discount and interest income.  The 2013 finance income decreased 
as compared to 2012 primarily due to the 2012 maturity of convertible debentures, as the change in 
debenture-related option valuation in 2012 resulted in a gain of $32.9 million. 
 
Other (gain) loss, includes miscellaneous operating and non-operating gains and losses.  2013 results 
includes $2.6 million related to the recovery of insurance for fire damage and reversal of provision for 
settled litigation related to the construction of Çöpler Mine in 2008.  
 
Income tax expense for 2013 increased as compared the same period in 2012 due to an increase in the 
effective tax rate for Turkish operations from approximately 13% to 20%.  Factors contributing to this 
increase include a reduction in the incentive tax credit rate applied to qualifying expenditures from 70% 
to between 20%-40%, as well as a reduction in capital asset expenditures that qualify for incentive tax 
credits.  In addition, during 2013 the Turkish Tax Authority completed an audit of Anagold corporate tax 
returns for the years 2010 through 2013 which included the claimed incentive tax credit.  As a result, the 
Corporation recognized an additional tax expense of $7.0 million and $5.8 million in Q2 and Q4 2013, 
respectively, related to the reversal of deferred tax assets associated with the disallowance of a portion 
of the investment tax credits.  2013 tax expense was also negatively impacted by the devaluation in the 
TRY as compared to USD, which resulted in the recognition of additional tax expenses of $23.0 million in 
Q4 2013 to reflect non-cash movements in deferred tax balances. The following table reconciles taxes at 
the statutory Canadian rate to the net amount recognized in the financial statements. 
 

2013 2012

Net profit before income tax for the year 172,667$     226,597$     

Income tax expense at Canadian statutory rate of 30% 51,800$       67,979$       
Effect of difference in foreign tax rates (20,556)        (22,494)        
Investment tax credits 6,584            (27,952)        
Unrecognized income tax assets 9,410            (2,622)          
Foreign currency valuations 23,012         (4,923)          
Other 4,894            6,648            
Provision for income taxes 75,144$       16,636$         
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Summary of Quarterly Results 
 
The following table summarizes the Corporation’s total revenues, profit (loss) and profit (loss) per share 
for each of the preceding eight quarterly periods ended December 31, 2013.  
 

(in '000, except for per share) Q4 2013 Q3 2013 Q2 2013 Q1 2013 Q4 2012 Q3 2012 Q2 2012 Q1 2012

Total revenues, continuing operations 88,102$      108,814$    89,627$      90,538$      88,694$      74,634$      90,373$      83,874$      

Amounts attributable to owners of the Corporation:

Profit (loss) from continuing operations (20,925)$     36,559$      18,376$      33,988$      38,145$      26,044$      46,462$      55,707$      

Profit (loss) from discontinued operations 25,053        (58,269)       (452,149)     (29,834)       (528,791)     (2,679)         (19,066)       (1,784)         

Net profit (loss) 4,128$        (21,710)$     (433,773)$  4,154$        (490,646)$  23,365$      27,396$      53,923$      

Per share profit from continuing operations:

 - basic  $         (0.04)  $          0.09  $          0.06  $          0.12  $          0.13  $          0.09  $          0.16  $          0.20 
 - diluted  $         (0.04)  $          0.09  $          0.06  $          0.12  $          0.13  $          0.09  $          0.16  $          0.20 

Per share profit (loss) from discontinued operations:
 - basic  $          0.09  $         (0.20)  $         (1.56)  $         (0.11)  $         (1.83)  $         (0.01)  $         (0.06)  $         (0.01)
 - diluted  $          0.09  $         (0.20)  $         (1.56)  $         (0.11)  $         (1.83)  $         (0.01)  $         (0.06)  $         (0.01)

Per share profit (loss):
 - basic  $          0.06  $         (0.11)  $         (1.50)  $          0.01  $         (1.70)  $          0.08  $          0.10  $          0.19 

 - diluted  $          0.06  $         (0.11)  $         (1.50)  $          0.01  $         (1.70)  $          0.08  $          0.10  $          0.19  
 

Generally, the Corporation does not experience the effects of seasonality with regard to revenues or 
expenses.  During Q4 2012, Q2 2013 and Q3 2013, the Corporation recorded post-tax impairment 
charges of $490 million, $412 million, and $72 million respectively for Australian non-current assets 
carried as discontinued operations. In addition, year-end tax provision adjustments made in Q4 2013 
resulted in a net loss from continuing operations for the quarter.  
 

Fourth Quarter Results 
 

During Q4 2013, Alacer Gold produced  67,205  attributable ounces as the ore handling and heap leach 
improvements discussed above continued.  Cash Operating Costs/ounce1, Total Cash Costs/ounce1, All-in 
sustaining Costs/ounce1 and All-in Costs/ounce1 all increased during the quarter, principally reflecting 
the non-cash adjustment of $5.7 million discussed above under “Full Year 2013 vs. Full Year 2012”, and a 
reduction in recoverable ounces placed on the pad during the quarter.  The Loss from continuing 
operations in the quarter is largely due to $30.8 million of income tax expense related to the full year 
expense of $75.1 million. Working capital increased $39.3 million, reflecting cash inflows from the sale 
of the ABU and net impacts of operating activities.  Overall, investing outflows continued to be 
associated with the projects described above in the “Investments in Mineral Properties and Equipment.” 
 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 
  
The Corporation manages its liquidity and capital resources to provide sufficient cash and cash 
equivalents to meet short and long-term operating and development plans, credit facility obligations, 
and other contractual obligations when due. Historically, the Corporation has used cash flow from 
operations and existing bank credit facilities as primary sources of liquidity. For potential funding of 
large transactions such as acquisitions, mine development and expansion, and debt refinancing 

                                            
1   Cash Operating Costs/ounce, Total Cash Costs/ounce, All-in Sustaining Costs/ounce and All-in Costs/ounce are non-IFRS financial 

performance measures with no standardized definitions under IFRS. For further information and detailed reconciliations, see the “Non-IFRS 
Measures” section below. 
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transactions, Alacer Gold may look to the private and public capital markets as a source of financing. 
Management believes capital resources at December 31, 2013 are sufficient to fund operations, 
forecasted exploration and capital expenditures, debt repayments and reclamation and remediation 
obligations in 2014. 
 
With respect to longer-term funding requirements, the Corporation believes current cash, additional 
future cash flows and other sources of liquidity will be available.  Under present conditions, the 
Corporation believes it has sufficient access to capital and debt markets.  There is a risk that the cost of 
obtaining capital resource from capital and debt markets may increase in the future as lenders and 
institutional investors may increase interest rates, impose tighter lending standards, or refuse to provide 
any new funding. Despite present market conditions, changes in the Corporation’s business, unforeseen 
opportunities or events, and other external factors may also adversely affect liquidity and the availability 
of additional capital resources.  Due to these factors, Alacer Gold cannot be certain that funding, if 
needed, will be available to the extent required, or on acceptable terms. If Alacer Gold is unable to 
access funding when needed on acceptable terms, the Corporation may not be able to fully implement 
current business plans, take advantage of business opportunities, respond to competitive pressures, or 
refinance existing or future debt obligations as they come due, any of which could have a material 
adverse effect on the Corporation’s operational and financial results. However, the Corporation may 
elect to reduce its planned expenditures concurrent with prevailing conditions.  The Corporation 
believes that this financial flexibility to adjust its spending levels will provide it with sufficient liquidity to 
meet its future operational goals and financial obligations. 
 
On March 6, 2013, the Corporation adopted a dividend policy to return a minimum of 20% of free cash 
flow to the Corporation’s shareholders annually beginning in 2014, subject to pertinent financial and 
operational considerations by the Board of Directors. Free cash flow totaled to $12.4 million and on 
March 12, 2014, the Corporation’s Board of Directors declared a dividend of $0.02 per share 
(approximately $5.8 million) payable on April 15, 2014 (in Canada) to shareholders of record at the close 
of business on March 31, 2014.  
 
Working Capital 
 
Working capital increased $126.7 million at December 31, 2013 as compared to December 31, 2012 
primarily due to the sale of discontinued operations, payment of stamp duties, as well as increased cash 
and inventories associated with mining operations.  
 
Current assets are available at varying times within 12 months following the balance sheet date. Cash 
and cash equivalents are readily available to meet expenditures. The ability to distribute cash to the 
parent entity may be subject to jurisdictional regulations or joint venture provisions. Management 
believes these provisions will not adversely affect the Corporation’s ability to meet its commitments 
when due.  
 
Credit Facilities and Term Notes 
 
In July 2013, the Corporation canceled an AUD$50 million outstanding revolving credit facility held at 
the Australian Business Unit. In September 2013, the Turkish Business Unit repaid the remaining balance 
of the original $25 million term note scheduled to mature in December 2013, and as of December 31, 
2013, the Corporation does not have any outstanding balances related to credit facilities or debt 
arrangements. 
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Contractual Obligations  
 
The Corporation’s contractual obligations as of December 31, 2013 were: 
 

Less than 
one year

Between one 
and five years

More than five 
years

Total

Non-cancellable operating leases  $         667  $             1,036  $                     11  $      1,714  
 
Lidya Mining is entitled to receive dividend payments equaling its share of legally declarable dividends 
from Anagold.  The estimated amount subject to distribution for 2013 operating results is $25.5 million, 
and is scheduled for payment in the first half of 2014. 
 
Business Conditions and Trends 
 
The Corporation’s results of operations, financial condition, financial performance and cash flows are 
affected by various business conditions and trends.  The variability of gold prices, fluctuating currency 
rates and increases in costs of materials and consumables associated with the Corporation’s mining 
activities are the primary economic factors that impacted financial results during 2013. 
 
Gold Price 
 
The price of gold is the most significant external factor affecting profitability and cash flow of the 
Corporation. The price of gold is subject to volatile price movements over short periods of time and is 
affected by numerous macroeconomic and industry factors that are beyond the Corporation’s control.  
Major influences on the gold price include currency exchange rate fluctuations and the relative strength 
of the USD, the supply of and demand for gold and macroeconomic factors such as the interest rate 
levels and inflation expectations. Declines in gold prices have adversely affected, and in the future may 
adversely affect, the Corporation’s operating results, cash flows, financial condition, access to capital 
markets, the economic viability of reserves, and ability to reinvest in order to maintain or grow the 
current asset base.  Further deterioration in gold prices may negatively affect future cash flow such that 
the Corporation may curtail or determine it may not be economical to continue with existing or planned 
exploration or capital development activities for existing operations. 
 
During 2013, the gold price experienced continued volatility, with the price ranging from $1,192 to 
$1,694 per ounce.  The price of gold closed at $1,204 per ounce on December 31, 2013, while the 
average 2013 market price of $1,411 per ounce represents a $258 per ounce decrease from the $1,669 
per ounce average market price for 2012.  The following table depicts the daily historical London PM Fix 
market price per ounce for 2012 through 2013. 
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In light of the downward trend in the gold price during the first half of 2013, a comprehensive cash 
generation strategy was implemented during Q2 2013 focusing primarily on discontinued operations, 
which were sold in Q4 2013.  
 
While management has implemented plans to mitigate the impact of decreased gold prices, as discussed 
above, further decreases in the realized price of gold sold are possible. 
 
Currency Rates 
 
Fluctuations in currency rates, particularly the relative strength of the USD, affect the Corporation’s 
results of operations and cash flows. The USD is the Corporation’s functional currency, except for 
discontinued operations where AUD is the functional currency. 
 
The Corporation’s earnings and cash flow may also be affected by fluctuations in the exchange rate 
between the USD and the Turkish Lira which may give rise to foreign currency exposure and which may 
affect future financial results. The Corporation has not entered into any foreign currency forward 
contracts or other similar financial instruments to manage foreign currency risk. The table below shows 
the USD:TRY foreign exchange rate from 2012 through 2013. 
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Overall inflation rates remained in line with prior year trends during 2013. Currently, the Corporation 
has not experienced any material direct liability resulting from changing commodity prices that have 
influenced its operations.  However, additional indirect costs are expected to flow through from affected 
suppliers.  The collective impact of changing prices may result in operating and capital cost variances 
beyond Management’s control.  The Corporation currently is not using derivative products to protect 
against movements in the cost of commodities, materials or services. 
 
Transactions with Related Parties 
 
As of December 31, 2013, the Corporation does not have any transactions with related parties.  
 
Critical Accounting Policies, Estimates and Accounting Changes 
 
The Corporation’s consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IFRS”). The 
significant accounting policies applied and recent accounting pronouncements are described in Note 3 
to the Corporation's consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2013. 
 
The preparation of the Corporation’s consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires 
the use of certain critical accounting estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions are 
based on management’s best knowledge of the relevant facts and circumstances taking into account 
previous experience, but actual results may materially differ from the amounts included in the financial 
statements.  Areas where critical accounting estimates and assumptions have the most significant effect 
on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements include: 
 
Mineral reserve and resource estimates 
Figures for reserves and resources are determined in accordance with National Instrument 43-101, 
Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects (“NI 43-101”) of the Canadian Securities Administrators and 
Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum standards. Proven and probable reserves are 
the economically mineable parts of the Corporation’s measured and indicated mineral resources 
demonstrated by at least a preliminary feasibility study. The Corporation estimates its proven and 
probable reserves and measured and indicated and inferred mineral resources based on information 
compiled by appropriately qualified persons. The information relating to the geological data on the size, 
depth and shape of an orebody requires complex geological judgments to interpret the data. The 
estimation of future cash flows related to proven and probable reserves is based upon factors such as 
estimates of foreign exchange rates, commodity prices, future capital requirements and production 
costs along with geological assumptions and judgments made in estimating the size and grade of the 
orebody. Changes in the proven and probable reserves or measured and indicated and inferred mineral 
resources estimates may impact the carrying value of property, plant and equipment, reclamation and 
remediation obligations, recognition of deferred tax amounts and depreciation, depletion and 
amortization.  
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Depreciation, depletion and amortization 
Plant assets and other facilities used directly in mining activities are depreciated using the UOP method 
over a period not to exceed the estimated life of the orebody based on recoverable ounces to be mined 
from proven and probable reserves. Mobile and other equipment is depreciated, net of residual value, 
on a straight-line basis, over the useful life of the equipment but does not exceed the related estimated 
life of the mine based on proven and probable reserves. The calculation of the UOP rate, and therefore 
the annual depreciation, depletion and amortization expense, could be materially affected by changes in 
the underlying estimates. Changes in estimates can be the result of actual future production differing 
from current forecasts of future production, expansion of mineral reserves through exploration 
activities, differences between estimated and actual costs of mining, and differences in gold price used 
in the estimation of mineral reserves. Significant judgment is involved in the determination of useful life 
and residual values for the computation of depreciation, depletion and amortization and no assurance 
can be given that actual useful lives and residual values will not differ significantly from current 
assumptions. 
 
Inventories 
The assumptions used in the valuation of work-in-process inventories include estimates of gold 
contained in the ore stacked on leach pads, assumptions of the amount of gold stacked that is expected 
to be recovered from the leach pads, and an assumption of the gold price expected to be realized when 
the gold is recovered. If these estimates or assumptions prove to be inaccurate, the Group could be 
required to write-down the recorded value of its work-in-process inventories, which would reduce the 
Group’s earnings and working capital. 
 
Mine restoration provision estimates 
The Group’s calculation of rehabilitation and closure provisions (and corresponding capitalized closure 
cost assets where necessary) rely on estimates of costs required to rehabilitate and restore disturbed 
land to appropriate post-operations condition. Key assumptions are reviewed regularly and adjusted to 
reflect current estimates used to calculate these balances. Significant judgment is required in 
determining the provision for mine closure and rehabilitation as there are many transactions and other 
factors that will affect the ultimate costs required to rehabilitate the site. Factors that affect this liability 
include future development, changes in technology, price increases and changes in interest rates. 
 
Income taxes 
The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in 
determining the worldwide provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations 
undertaken during the ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax determination is 
uncertain. The Group recognizes tax-related assets and liabilities based on the Group’s current 
understanding of tax laws as applied to the Group’s circumstances. Where the final tax outcome of 
these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the 
current and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. 
 
Recoverability of long-lived assets 
The Group reviews and evaluates long-term non-financial assets for impairment at least annually or 
when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the related carrying amounts may not be 
recoverable. This assessment is done at the cash generating unit level, which is the lowest level for 
which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other assets. An impairment is 
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considered to exist if the recoverable amount, determined as the higher of the estimated fair value less 
costs to sell or value in use, is less than the carrying amount. Future cash flows are estimated based on 
expected future production, commodity prices, operating costs and capital costs. Changes in any of the 
assumptions or estimates used in determining the fair value of assets could impact the impairment 
analysis. 
 
Financial Instruments and Other Instruments 
 
The Corporation’s financial instruments as of December 31, 2013 consist of cash and cash equivalents, 
receivables, investments in publicly-traded securities, trade and other payables which are presented at 
fair value.  The Corporation’s financial instruments are denominated primarily in USD and TRY.  There 
are no material income, expense, gains/losses associated with the instruments in 2013. 
 
Credit Risk is associated primarily with short-term investments and the portion of cash and cash 
equivalents held by banks.  Such credit risk is managed by diversifying holdings among various financial 
institutions and by purchasing short-term investment grade securities, which may include such 
instruments as bankers’ acceptances, guaranteed investment contracts, corporate commercial paper, 
U.S. and Canadian treasury bills, and U.S. and Canadian agencies investments in accordance with the 
Corporation’s investment policy.  Investment objectives are primarily directed towards preservation of 
capital and liquidity.  The investment policy provides limitations on concentrations of credit risk, credit 
quality and the duration of investments, as well as minimum rating requirements for cash and cash 
equivalents held in banks and financial institutions. The majority of the Corporation’s receivable 
balances consist of claims for recoverable Turkish value-added tax. The Corporation is also exposed to 
credit risk to the extent the timing of payments is delayed.  As of December 31, 2013, Turkish VAT 
receivable totaled $10 million. Management monitors its exposure to credit risk on a continual basis. 
 
Interest rate risk is generally associated with variable rate financial instruments and available market 
interest rates at the time financial instruments are acquired. The Corporation also holds a portion of 
cash and cash equivalents in bank accounts that earn variable interest rates.  Short-term investments 
are purchased at market interest rates and result in fixed yields to maturity.  All other financial assets 
and liabilities in the form of receivables, payables and provisions are non-interest bearing.  Future net 
cash flows from interest income on cash and cash equivalents and interest expense on variable rate 
borrowings will be affected by interest rate fluctuations.  The Corporation manages interest rate risk by 
maintaining an investment policy for short-term investments and cash held in banks.  This policy focuses 
primarily on preservation of capital and liquidity.  The Corporation currently does not engage in any 
hedging or derivative transactions to manage interest rate risk. 
 
Foreign currency risk is generally associated with financial instruments and transactions denominated in 
non-USD currencies.  The Corporation is exposed to financial gain or loss as a result of foreign exchange 
movements against the USD.  The Corporation does not presently engage in hedging or speculative 
activities.  The Corporation holds USD, TRY, and CAD in sufficient amounts to meet its estimated 
expenditure requirements for these currencies.  The Corporation held approximately $6.5 million 
denominated in TRY as of December 31, 2013.  Therefore, the Corporation remains exposed to future 
currency fluctuations.  
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Non-IFRS Measures 
 
The Corporation has identified certain measures that it believes will assist understanding the 
performance of the business. As the measures are not defined under IFRS, they may not be directly 
comparable with other companies’ adjusted measures. The non-IFRS measures are not intended to be a 
substitute for, or superior to, any IFRS measures of performance, but Management has included them as 
these are considered to be important comparables and key measures used within the business for 
assessing performance. These measures are explained further below. 
 
Cash Operating Costs, Total Cash Costs, All-in Sustaining Costs and All-in Costs are non-IFRS measures. 
Cash Operating Costs and Total Cash Costs are calculated using guidance issued by the Gold Institute. 
The Gold Institute was a non-profit industry association comprising leading gold producers, refiners, 
bullion suppliers and manufacturers. This institute has now been incorporated into the National Mining 
Association. The guidance was first issued in 1996 and revised in November 1999. All-in Sustaining Costs 
and All-in Costs are calculated based on guidance from the World Gold Council issued in June 2013. 
 
Cash Operating Costs, as defined in the Gold Institute’s guidance, includes mining, processing, transport 
and refinery costs, mine site support costs, movement in production inventories, and by-product credits, 
where relevant.  
 
Total Cash Costs, as defined in the Gold Institute’s guidance, includes all of the Cash Operating Costs 
noted above, plus royalties and severance taxes. 
 
 All-in Sustaining Costs is an extension of Total Cash Costs and incorporates costs related to sustaining 
production, including sustaining capital expenditures, exploration and general and administrative costs.   
 
All-in Costs includes All-in Sustaining Costs plus expansion capital costs. 
 
Cash Operating Costs/ounce, Total Cash Costs/ounce, All-in Sustaining Costs/ounce and All-in 
Costs/ounce are calculated by dividing the relevant costs, as determined using the cost elements noted 
above, by gold ounces sold for the periods presented. The data does not have a meaning prescribed by 
IFRS and therefore amounts presented may not be comparable to data presented by gold producers 
who do not follow the guidance provided by the Gold Institute or the World Gold Council. In particular, 
non-cash costs such as depreciation and amortization would be included in a measure of total costs of 
producing gold under IFRS, are excluded from the non-IFRS measures noted above. Furthermore, while 
the Gold Institute and World Gold Council have provided definitions for the calculations of these costs, 
such calculations may vary from company to company and may not be comparable to other similarly 
titled measures of other companies. However, Alacer Gold believes that cash cost measures are useful 
indicators of performance as they provide an indication of a company’s profitability and efficiency, the 
trends in cash costs as the Corporation’s operations mature, and a benchmark of performance to allow 
comparison to other companies. 
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The following table reconciles these non-IFRS financial measures to the consolidated statements of 
profit (loss) for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, excluding discontinued operations.   
 

In $000s, except for per ounce measures 2013 2012
Production costs (continuing operation) - IFRS 117,169$     76,145$       

Adjustments: (none) -                     -                     
Total Cash Costs 117,169$     76,145$       
Divided by: gold ounces sold 273,352       202,851       

Total Cash Costs per ounce 429$             375$             

Total Cash Costs 117,169$     76,145$       
Less: Royalties and severance taxes 3,877            8,625            

Cash Operating Costs 113,292$     67,520$       
Divided by: gold ounces sold 273,352       202,851       

Cash Operating Costs per ounce 414$             335$             

Total Cash Costs – from above 117,169$     
Add portions of: 

Exploration 3,081$          
General and administrative 29,470          
Share-based employee compensation costs 5,292            
Sustaining capital expenditures 69,062          

All-in Sustaining Costs 224,074$     
Divided by: gold ounces sold 273,352       

All-in Sustaining Costs per ounce 820$             N/A

Total All-in Sustaining Costs, from above 224,074$     

Add-in non-sustaining costs 1 12,184          
Total All-in Costs 236,258$     
Divided by: gold ounces sold 273,352       

All-in Costs per ounce 864$             N/A  
1 Includes Sulfide project costs and attributable regional joint venture exploration expenditures. 

 
Adjusted Net Profit and Adjusted Net Profit per share attributable to owners of the Corporation are 
non-IFRS measures and reflect net profit (loss) attributable to owners of the Corporation as adjusted for 
non-recurring items, mark-to-market adjustments for convertible debentures, and normalization of tax 
expense to reflect statutory rates by jurisdiction. This information is provided to supplement 
information presented in the consolidated financial statements and this MD&A. Management believes 
that in addition to profit (loss) and related per share disclosures prepared in accordance with IFRS, these 
adjusted measures provide a basis for further evaluation of the Corporation’s performance. 
Presentation of these adjusted measures is not a substitute for reported amounts presented in 
accordance with IFRS, but rather should be evaluated in conjunction with such IFRS measures. The terms 
“Adjusted Net Profit attributable to owners of the Corporation” and “Adjusted Net Profit per share 
attributable to owners of the Corporation” do not have standardized meanings prescribed by IFRS. 
Therefore, the Corporation’s definitions may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other 
companies or as used by various readers of these adjusted measures. 
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Calculation of these adjusted measures is presented below for the year ended December 31, 2013 and 
2012.  
 

In '000 2013 2012
Profit (loss) attributable to owners of the Corporation (447,201)$      (385,962)$      
Add back tax expense (benefit) 75,144            16,636            

Pre-tax profit (loss) attributable to owners of the Corporation (372,057)        (369,326)        

Adjustments (pre-tax basis):

Unrealized (gain)/loss on non-hedge financial instruments 1 -                       (34,436)          

Results of Discountinued Operations 2 515,199         552,320         

Adjusted pre-tax profit attributable to owners of the Corporation 143,142         148,558         

Tax expense on adjusted pre-tax profit3 31,473            37,257            
Adjusted Net Profit 111,669$       111,301$       

Divided by: Weighted average common shares outstanding 289,143,274 285,508,410 

Adjusted Net Profit per share 0.39$              0.39$               
 
1 The unrealized (gain)/loss on non-hedge financial instruments reflects the period (gain) or loss resulting from the mark-to-

market adjustment made in connection with convertible debentures that matured in April 2012. These amounts are non-
cash in nature and reflect periodic changes in the fair value of the option component of the debentures. 

2 During 2012 and 2013, the Corporation recognized impairment losses resulting from the re-measurement of Australian 
assets to fair value less cost to sell, as further discussed in Note 21 in the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

3 This adjustment applies income taxes to reflect adjusted pre-tax profit attributable to owners of the Corporation at 
applicable statutory rates for each jurisdiction, as noted in the tables below. 

 
The tables below set forth statutory yearly income tax calculations for the year ended December 31, 
2013 and 2012 for continuing operations. 
 

Turkey
Corporate and 

Other Total

2013:

Adjusted pre-tax profit (loss) attributable to owners of the Corporation 157,366$       (14,224)$        143,142$    

Statutory tax rate applied 20% 0%

Tax (benefit) expense on adjusted pre-tax profit (loss) 31,473$         -$                     31,473$       
2012:

Adjusted pre-tax profit (loss) attributable to owners of the Corporation 186,284$       (37,726)$        148,558$    

Statutory tax rate applied 20% 0%

Tax (benefit) expense on adjusted pre-tax profit (loss) 37,257$         -$                     37,257$        
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
For The Year Ended December 31, 2013 

(All amounts expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars, unless otherwise stated) 
 

 

 30 

Other 
 
Disclosure Controls and Procedures and Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 
Management is responsible for the design and effectiveness of disclosure controls and procedures 
(“DC&P”) and the design of internal control over financial reporting (“ICFR”) to provide reasonable 
assurance that material information related to the Corporation, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is 
made known to the Corporation’s certifying officers.  The Corporation’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer have each evaluated the design and effectiveness of the Corporation’s DC&P and ICFR 
as of December 31, 2013 and have concluded that these controls and procedures are effective in 
providing reasonable assurance that material information relating to the Corporation is made known to 
them by others within the Corporation.  The Corporation’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer have used the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) 
framework to evaluate the design and effectiveness of the Corporation’s ICFR as of December 31, 2013 
and have concluded that these controls and procedures are effective in providing reasonable assurance 
that financial information is recorded, processed, summarized and reported in a timely manner.  
 
Management of the Corporation was required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost‐benefit 
relationship of possible controls and procedures.  The result of the inherent limitations in all control 
systems means no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and 
instances of fraud, if any, have been detected.  During the year ended December 31, 2013, significant 
changes to the Information System environment and key management positions were implemented.  It 
is management’s judgment that the related risks were properly managed and these changes in the 
Corporation's DC&P and ICFR did not have a material adverse effect, or are reasonably likely to have a 
material adverse effect, on the Corporation's internal control over financial reporting. 
 
Subsequent Events 
 
In February 2014, Howard Stevenson, President and Chief Operating Officer departed the Corporation.  The 
role has been eliminated and will not be replaced. 
 
Outstanding Share Data 
 
The following common shares and convertible securities were outstanding as at February 28, 2014.  
 

Security Expiry Date 
Weighted Average 

Exercise Price  
Common Shares on 

Exercise 
Common Shares*     290,305,243 
Restricted Stock Units Various N /A  2,412,426 

     292,717,669 
* Common shares outstanding include 92,836,821 shares represented by CDI, being a unit of beneficial ownership in an 

Alacer Gold share and traded on the ASX. 
 
Additional Information and Risk Factors 
 
Additional information relating to the Corporation, including risk factors that may adversely affect or 
prevent Alacer Gold from carrying out all or portions of its business strategy are discussed in the 
Corporation’s Annual Information Form and other filings available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 
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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting 
 
The consolidated financial statements, the notes thereto, and other information in Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Alacer Gold Corp. (the “Corporation”), are the responsibility of Management 
and have been approved by the Board of Directors. 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and reflect 
Management’s best estimates, judgments and policies that it believes appropriate in the circumstances. 
 
The Corporation maintains a system of internal accounting controls which provide on a reasonable basis, 
assurance that the financial information is relevant, reliable, accurate and that the Corporation’s assets 
are appropriately accounted for and safeguarded. 
 
The Board of Directors, principally through the Audit Committee, is responsible for ensuring 
Management fulfills its responsibilities for financial reporting and internal control.  The Audit Committee 
is composed of three directors, two of which are independent, and meets periodically with Management 
and the external auditors to review accounting, auditing, internal control and financial reporting matters. 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Chartered 
Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants who were appointed by the shareholders.  The 
auditor’s report outlines the scope of their examination and their opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
 
 
 
   (Signed) 
Rodney Antal 
President and Chief Executive Officer 

   (Signed) 
Mark Murchison 
Chief Financial Officer 

 
March 11, 2014 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 

To the Shareholders of Alacer Gold Corp. 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Alacer Gold Corp. and its 
subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2013 and 
2012 and the consolidated statements of profit (loss) and comprehensive profit (loss), cash flows and changes 
in equity for the years then ended, and the related notes, which comprise a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information. 
 
Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit.  We 
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of Alacer Gold Corp. and its subsidiaries as at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 and their 
financial performance and their cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
/signed/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Professional Accountants 
Licensed Public Accountants 
Toronto, Ontario, Canada 
 
March 11, 2014 
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Alacer Gold Corp. 
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position 
(expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars) 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
 

1 
 

Note
 December 31,

2013 
 December 31,

2012* 

Assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 6 289,649$              277,258$           
Receivables and other 7 16,396                  22,841                
Inventories 8 57,874                  116,967              

363,919                417,066              
Mineral properties and equipment, net 9 330,461                1,022,096          
Deferred tax assets 10 -                              9,807                  
Other assets 11 17,775                  11,412                
Total assets 712,155$              1,460,381$        

Liabilities
Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 12 27,509$                158,605$           
Borrowings, current portion 13 -                              68,880                
Current income tax liabilities 10 21,145                  1,014                  

48,654                  228,499              
Borrowings 13 -                              482                      
Provisions 14 16,537                  62,739                
Deferred tax liabilities 10 12,587                  -                            
Other liabilities 751                        1,624                  
Total liabilities 78,529                  293,344              

Equity
Equity attributable to owners of the parent

Share capital 15 1,469,218            1,457,468          
Reserves 16 14,727                  40,707                
Deficit (957,504)               (439,994)            

526,441                1,058,181          
Non-controlling interest in subsidiary 17 107,185                108,856              
Total equity 633,626                1,167,037          
Total liabilities and equity 712,155$              1,460,381$        

 As of  

 
 

* 2012 balances restated, as noted in footnote 3-u-viii. 
 
 

Signed on behalf of the Board 
   (Signed) 
Richard P. Graff 
Chairman 

   (Signed) 
Edward Dowling 
Director 
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Alacer Gold Corp. 
Consolidated Statements of Profit (Loss) 
(expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars) 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
 

2 
 

Note 2013 2012

Revenues
Gold sales 377,081$   337,575$   
Cost of sales
Production costs 117,169     76,145       
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 37,387       23,979       

Total cost of sales 154,556     100,124     

Mining gross profit 222,525     237,451     
Other costs
Exploration and evaluation 18 3,081          3,880          
General and administrative 29,470       25,421       
Restructuring costs 4,990          -                   
Share-based employee compensation costs 5,292          7,069          
Foreign exchange loss 4,102          2,806          
Finance income 19 (657)            (29,675)      
Share of loss of investments accounted for using the equity method 20 4,801          -                   
Other (gain)/loss (1,221)        1,353          
Profit from continuing operations before income tax 172,667     226,597     

Income tax expense 10 75,144       16,636       

Net profit from continuing operations 97,523       209,961     

Net loss from discontinued operations 21 (515,199)    (552,320)    

Total net loss (417,676)$ (342,359)$ 

Net profit from continuing operations attributable to:
Owners of the corporation 67,998$     166,358$   
Non-controll ing interest 29,525       43,603       

Total net profit from continuing operations 97,523$     209,961$   

Net profit (loss) attributable to:
Owners of the corporation 22 (447,201)$ (385,962)$ 
Non-controll ing interest 17 29,525       43,603       

Total net profit (loss) (417,676)$ (342,359)$ 

Basic profit (loss) per share: 22

From continuing operations 0.24$          0.58$          
From discontinued operations (1.78)$        (1.93)$        
From net profit (loss) (1.55)$        (1.35)$        

Diluted profit (loss) per share: 22

From continuing operations 0.23$          0.58$          
From discontinued operations (1.78)$        (1.93)$        
From net profit (loss) (1.55)$        (1.35)$        

For the year
 ended December 31,
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Alacer Gold Corp. 
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Profit (Loss) 
(expressed in U.S. dollars) 
 

 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
 

3 
 

 
 

 

2013 2012
Note

Comprehensive profit (loss)
Net profit (loss) (417,676)$ (342,359)$ 
Changes in:

Currency translation adjustment of
   discontinued operations 21 -                   20,040       
Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-
  sale  securities, net of tax -                   (147)            

Total comprehensive profit (loss) (417,676)$ (322,466)$ 
Total comprehensive profit (loss) attributable to:

Owners of the corporation (447,201)$ (366,069)$ 
Non-controlling interest 17 29,525       43,603       

Total comprehensive profit (loss) (417,676)$ (322,466)$ 

For the year
 ended December 31,
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Alacer Gold Corp. 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
(expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars) 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
 

4 
 

2013 2012

Cash provided by (used in)
Operating activities from continuing operations

Net profit from continuing operations 97,523$         209,961$       
Non-cash items:

Depreciation, depletion and amortization 37,615            25,555            
Unrealized foreign exchange impacts 2,950              3,076              
Debenture interest accretion -                       (7,861)             
Share-based employee compensation costs 6,392              7,069              
Other non-cash losses, net -                       11,696            
Fair value adjustment on derivative financial instrument -                       (34,436)          
Deferred taxes 10 22,394            8,753              

Net change in non-cash working capital 27 17,668            (49,627)          
184,542         174,186         

Investing activities from continuing operations
Mineral properties and equipment, net (77,720)          (61,268)          
Proceeds from sale of Discontinued operations 40,307            -                       

(37,413)          (61,268)          

Financing activities from continuing operations
Options and units exercised, net 15 580                  2,199              
Financing costs -                       (275)                
Repayment of borrowings 13 (11,900)          (13,118)          
Repayment of matured debentures -                       (47,479)          
Non-controlling interest dividend 17 (31,196)          (6,820)             
Dividend paid (70,310)          -                       
Sale of non-controlling interest -                       37,815            

(112,826)        (27,678)          

Increase in cash and cash equivalents from continuing operations 34,303            85,240            

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents from discontinued operations 21 (20,033)          (58,200)          

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning balance 277,258         249,565         

Effect of exchange rates on changes on cash held in foreign currencies (1,879)             653                  

Cash and cash equivalents – ending balance 289,649$       277,258$       

For the year
ended December 31,

Note
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Alacer Gold Corp. 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity 
(expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars) 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
 

5 
 
 

Share capital Reserves Deficit Total Total Equity
Balance at January 1, 2012 1,392,024$    20,515$        (37,735)$        1,374,804$    17,961$    1,392,765$    
Profit (loss) for the period -                        -$                    (385,962)        (385,962)         43,603      (342,359)         
Change in valuation - available-for-sale 
securities, net of tax

-                        (147)$             -                       (147)                 -                 (147)                 

Functional currency translations -                        20,040$        -                       20,040            -                 20,040            
-                        19,893$        (385,962)        (366,069)         43,603      (322,466)         

Transactions with owners:
Sale of non-controlling interest -                        -$                    (16,297)           (16,297)           54,112      37,815            
Non-controlling interest dividends -                        -$                    -                       -                        (6,820)       (6,820)             
Debenture conversion 56,187            -$                    -                       56,187            -                 56,187            
Share plans - exercises 9,257               (7,222)$         -                       2,035               -                 2,035               
Amortization of share-based awards -                        7,521$           -                       7,521               -                 7,521               

Total transactions with owners 65,444            299$              (16,297)           49,446            47,292      96,738            

Balance at December 31, 2012 1,457,468$    40,707$        (439,994)$      1,058,181$    108,856$ 1,167,037$    

Balance at January 1, 2013 1,457,468$    40,707$        (439,994)$      1,058,181$    108,856$ 1,167,037$    
Profit (loss) for the period -                        -$                    (447,201)        (447,201)         29,525      (417,676)         
Change in valuation - available-for-sale 
securities, net of tax

-                        527$              -                       527                  -                 527                  

Functional currency translations -                        (22,434)$       -                       (22,434)           -                 (22,434)           
-                        (21,907)$       (447,201)        (469,108)         29,525      (439,583)         

Transactions with owners:
Dividends paid -                        -$                    (70,309)           (70,309)           -                 (70,309)           
Non-controlling interest dividends -                        -$                    -                       -                        (31,196)     (31,196)           
Share plans - exercises 11,750            (11,561)$       -                       189                  -                 189                  
Amortization of share-based awards -                        7,488$           -                       7,488               -                 7,488               

Total transactions with owners 11,750            (4,073)$         (70,309)           (62,632)           (31,196)     (93,828)           

Balance at December 31, 2013 1,469,218$    14,727$        (957,504)$      526,441$        107,185$ 633,626$        

Attributable to owners of the parent Non-
controlling 

interest
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Alacer Gold Corp. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2013 and 2012 
(expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars, unless otherwise stated) 
 

 6 

1. General information 

Alacer Gold Corp. (the “Corporation”) is a leading intermediate gold mining company focused on mining and 
exploration in Turkey.  The Corporation presently operates its 80%-owned Çöpler Gold Mine in Turkey, and is 
involved in eleven exploration projects across Turkey.   
 
As discussed below in Note 21, the Corporation completed the sale of the Australian Business Unit on October 
29, 2013. 
 

These consolidated financial statements of the Corporation as of and for the year ended December 31, 2013 
are comprised of the Corporation and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the "Group" and individually as 
"Group entities").  The Corporation is the ultimate parent. 
 
 

2. Basis of presentation 

The consolidated financial statements of the Corporation have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).  
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for 
derivative financial instruments and available-for-sale financial assets that have been measured at fair value. 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates.  It also requires Management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group’s 
accounting policies.  The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 5b.  
 
These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on March 11, 
2014. 

 
 

3. Significant accounting policies 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set 
out below.  These policies have been consistently applied to all years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
 

a) Subsidiaries 
Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating 
policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights.  The existence 
and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when 
assessing whether the Group controls an entity.  Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which 
control is transferred to the Group until the date on which control ceases. 
 
The accounts of subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent entity, using 
consistent accounting policies. Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealized gains or losses on 
transactions between Group companies are eliminated. A list of Group entities appears in Note 17. 
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Alacer Gold Corp. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2013 and 2012 
(expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars, unless otherwise stated) 
 

 7 

Non-controlling interests represent equity interests in subsidiaries owned by outside parties.  The share of 
net assets of subsidiaries attributable to non-controlling interests is presented as a component of equity.  
Their share of net profit (loss) and comprehensive profit (loss) is recognized directly in equity.  Changes in 
the parent company’s ownership interest in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are 
accounted for as equity transactions. 

 
b) Joint arrangements 

The Group conducts a portion of its business through joint arrangements where the venturers are bound 
by contractual arrangements establishing joint control over the ventures requiring unanimous consent of 
each of the venturers regarding strategic, financial and operating polices of the venture.  The Group 
undertakes its joint arrangements through jointly controlled entities, being corporations, partnerships or 
other unincorporated entities in which each venturer has an interest. The Group accounts for investments 
in joint ventures using the equity method of accounting. The carrying value of the Group’s investments in 
joint ventures represents the cost of the investment, including the Group’s share of retained earnings and 
losses subsequent to formation. At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses its investments in 
joint ventures for any indicators of impairment.  
 

c) Transactions with non-controlling interests 
The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests as transactions with equity owners of the 
Group. Gains or losses on disposals of non-controlling interests are recorded to the deficit account in 
Equity.  For non-wholly-owned subsidiaries, the net assets attributable to outside equity shareholders are 
presented as “non-controlling interests” in the equity section of the consolidated statement of financial 
position.  Profit (loss) for the period that is attributable to the non-controlling interests is calculated based 
on the ownership of the non-controlling shareholders in the subsidiary. 
 

d) Segment reporting 
The Group currently operates in one reportable operating segment consisting of mining, development and 
exploration of mineral deposits in Turkey.  As discussed in Note 21, the Corporation completed the sale of 
the Australian Business Unit on October 29, 2013; therefore, the results of discontinued operations are still 
presented as of December 31, 2013.  Corporate and other results are presented separately for 
reconciliation purposes. 
 

e) Foreign currency translation 
i) Functional currency 

Items included in the financial statements of each Group entity are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). Primary and 
secondary indicators are used to determine the functional currency (primary indicators have priority 
over secondary indicators).  Primary indicators include the currency that mainly influences sales prices 
and the currency that mainly influences labor, material and other costs.  Secondary indicators include 
the currency in which funds from financing activities are generated and the currency in which receipts 
from operating activities are usually retained. The functional currency for all Group entities is the 
United States dollar (“U.S. dollar”). 
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Alacer Gold Corp. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2013 and 2012 
(expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars, unless otherwise stated) 
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ii) Transactions and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into an entity’s functional currency using the exchange 
rates prevailing at the date of the transaction. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rates of monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the Consolidated Statement 
of Profit (Loss). 
 
The financial statements of the Australian Business Unit had a functional currency different from the 
presentation currency of the Corporation and were translated into U.S. dollars as follows: assets and 
liabilities – at the closing rate at the date of the statement of financial position; and income and 
expenses – at the average rate of the period (as this is considered a reasonable approximation to 
actual rates). All resulting changes are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Profit (Loss) as cumulative translation adjustments.  
 

iii) Presentation currency 
The presentation currency is U.S. dollars as this currency best reflects the overall economic 
environment in which the Group operates.  
 

f) Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held available on demand with financial 
institutions, and other short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or 
less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value. Restricted cash balances are excluded from cash and cash equivalents, and are classified 
as either current or non-current assets, based upon the expiration date of the restriction.  
 

g) Inventories 
Production inventories are valued at the lower of production cost or net realizable value.  Production costs 
is determined on an average cost basis and consists of direct production costs including mining, crushing, 
processing, site administration costs, depreciation and allocated indirect costs, based on normal operating 
capacity.  Supplies inventories are valued at average cost less any allowances for obsolescence. 

 
i) Finished goods inventory includes gold bullion and doré.  Doré represents a bar containing 

predominantly gold by value, which is generally refined off-site to return saleable metals.  Doré 
inventory is valued at the lower of average cost to produce the doré and net realizable value. 
 

ii) Work-in-process inventory represents costs that are incurred in the process of converting mineralized 
ores into partially refined precious metals, or doré.  Ore represents material that, at the time of 
extraction, is expected to be processed into a saleable form.  The recovery of gold from ore is achieved 
through either a milling or heap leaching process.  Under the heap leaching method, ore is crushed and 
placed on leach pads where it is treated with a chemical solution, which dissolves the gold contained in 
the ore.  The resulting “pregnant” solution is further processed in a plant where the gold is recovered. 

 
Cost of work-in-process inventory includes operating costs incurred to that stage of the process plus 
depreciation, depletion and amortization of mineral property, plant and equipment relating to that 
stage of the process.  Costs capitalized to work-in-process inventory include direct and indirect 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2013 and 2012 
(expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars, unless otherwise stated) 
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materials and consumables; direct labor; repairs and maintenance; utilities; depreciation, depletion 
and amortization of mineral property, plant and equipment; and local mine administrative expenses.  
Costs are removed from in-process inventory and transferred to doré inventory as ounces are 
produced based on the average cost per recoverable ounce on the leach pad.  Costs are recorded as 
costs of sales in the consolidated statement of comprehensive profit (loss) on the sale of refined gold, 
along with the impact of inventory movement reflected through costs of sales in the Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Profit (Loss). 
 
Recoverable gold on the leach pads is estimated based on the quantities of ore placed on the leach 
pads (based on grade control measured tonnes added to the leach pads), the grade of ore placed on 
the leach pads (based on assay data) and a recovery percentage (based on estimated ultimate 
recovery assumptions from the block model).  The nature of the leaching process inherently limits the 
ability to precisely monitor inventory levels.  As a result, estimates are refined based on actual results 
over time.  The ultimate recovery of gold from leach pads will not be known until the leaching process 
is concluded at the end of the mine life. 
 

iii) Ore stockpiles inventory represents sulfide ore that has been mined and is available for further 
processing. The carrying value of stockpiles are measured by estimating the number of tonnes added 
and removed from the stockpile, the number of contained ounces (based on assay data) and the 
estimated metallurgical recovery rates (based on the expected processing method). Stockpile ore 
tonnages are verified by periodic surveys. Costs are allocated to stockpiles based on the current mining 
cost per tonne incurred up to the point of stockpiling the ore, including applicable overhead, depletion 
and amortization relating to mining operations, and are removed at the average cost per tonne. Ore 
stockpiles inventory is measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Sulfide is currently 
classified as non-current asset, as it will be not processed within year.     

 
h) Mineral properties and equipment 

 
i) Mineral Properties 

Mineral properties consist of: the fair value attributable to mineral reserves and resources acquired in 
a business combination or asset acquisition; open-pit mine development costs; capitalized exploration 
and evaluation costs; estimate of the rehabilitation obligation; and capitalized interest.  Mineral 
properties are comprised of historical costs associated with acquisition, evaluation, development and 
construction of mining properties and is stated at historical cost less depletion. Historical cost includes 
expenditures directly attributable to acquisition and subsequent costs to evaluate and develop mineral 
reserves and resources.  Such costs are capitalized only when it is probable that future economic 
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably. Mineral properties are not subject to depletion until processing plant construction associated 
with a mineral property is completed and initial commercial production is achieved. Incidental 
revenues and operating costs are included in mineral properties prior to a plant achieving commercial 
production, which occurs when a property is substantially complete and ready for its intended use. 
Mineral property costs are depleted using the units-of-production (“UOP”) method based on proven 
and probable mineral reserves. 
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A. Open-Pit Mining Costs: 
In open-pit mining operations, it is necessary to remove overburden and other waste materials to 
access ore from which minerals can be extracted economically.  The process of mining overburden 
and waste materials is referred to as stripping.  Stripping costs incurred in order to provide initial 
access to the orebody (referred to as pre-production stripping) are capitalized as open-pit mine 
development costs.  Stripping costs when in production are included in the cost of inventory 
produced during the relevant period.  Capitalized open-pit mine development costs are 
depreciated on a UOP basis.  Capitalized open-pit mine development costs are depreciated once 
the open-pit has entered production and the future economic benefit is being derived. 

 
ii) Mining Plant and Equipment 

Mining plant and equipment is stated at historical costs less depreciation. Historical costs include initial 
purchase price or construction cost, costs directly attributable to bringing the asset into operation, 
including an estimate of the rehabilitation obligation, and where relevant, borrowing costs.  
 
Costs that meet the asset recognition criteria are capitalized.  Costs incurred that do not extend the 
productive capacity or useful economic life of an asset are considered repairs and maintenance 
expense and are accounted for as a cost of the inventory and subsequently charged to period expense, 
when the related revenues are recognized. 
 
Depreciation commences when mining plant and equipment are considered available for use.  Once 
mining plant and equipment are considered available for use, they are measured as cost less 
accumulated depreciation and applicable impairment losses.  Mining plant and equipment, net of 
residual value, is depreciated on a straight-line basis, over the shorter of estimated useful lives or life 
of the related mineral property. Asset residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if 
appropriate, at each statement of position date. 

 
Annual depreciation rates of major asset categories:     

Buildings, plant and equipment    5 – 25 years 
Light vehicles and other mobile equipment    2 -3 years 
Furniture, computer and office equipment    2 -3 years 

 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount and 
are recognized with ‘Other gains and losses’ in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Profit 
(Loss). 

 
iii) Construction-in-progress (“CIP”) 

Assets under construction at operating mines are capitalized as CIP.  The cost of CIP comprises its 
purchase price and any costs directly attributable to bringing it into working condition for its intended 
use.  CIP amounts related to development projects are included in the carrying amount of the 
development project.  CIP amounts incurred at operating mines are presented as a separate asset 
within Mineral Properties and Equipment.  CIP is not depreciated.  Once the asset is complete and 
available for use, it is transferred to the appropriate mineral property and equipment class and 
depreciation commences. 
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iv) Intangible Assets 
Intangible assets acquired by way of an asset acquisition or business combination are recognized if the 
asset is separable or arises from contractual or legal rights and the fair value can be measured reliably 
on initial recognition.  On acquisition of a mineral property in the exploration stage, we prepare an 
estimate of the fair value attributable to the exploration licenses acquired, including the fair value 
attributable to mineral resources, if any, of that property.  The fair value of the exploration license is 
recorded as an intangible asset (acquired exploration potential) as at the date of acquisition. 

 
v) Leasing Arrangements 

The Group may enter into both leasing arrangements and arrangements that are in substance leasing 
arrangements.  The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the 
substance of the arrangement at inception date, including whether the fulfillment of the arrangement 
is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or whether the arrangement conveys a right to 
use the asset.  Leasing arrangements that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
of the asset to the Group are classified as finance leases. And all other leases are classified as operating 
leases.  Operating lease payments are recognized as an operating cost in the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive profit (loss) on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The Corporation presently 
has no finance leases. 

 
i) Development property 

Once proven and probable reserves are established for a mineral property and it is determined that these 
reserves can be developed economically, costs incurred are capitalized until initial plant construction has 
been completed and commercial production is achieved. Incidental revenues and operating costs are 
included in Mineral Properties prior to a plant achieving commercial production. Development property is 
not subject to depreciation or depletion until placed in service.  

 
j) Deferred stripping costs 

Stripping costs comprise the removal of overburden from a mine. Stripping costs that represent a 
betterment of a mineral property are capitalized to mineral properties. Such capitalized stripping costs are 
amortized on a unit‐of‐production method over the proven and probable reserves to which these costs 
relate. Stripping costs when in production are included in the cost of inventory produced during the 
relevant period.  Capitalized stripping costs are included as part of mineral properties and form part of the 
total investment in the relevant asset level or cash generating units, which are reviewed for impairment if 
events or changes of circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. 
 

k) Exploration and evaluation expenditures 
Exploration expenditures are the costs incurred in the initial search for mineral deposits with economic 
potential or in the process of obtaining more information about existing mineral deposits.  Exploration 
expenditures typically include costs associated with prospecting, sampling, mapping, diamond drilling and 
other work involved in searching for ore.  
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Evaluation expenditures are the costs incurred to establish the technical and commercial viability of 
developing mineral deposits identified through exploration activities or by acquisition.  Evaluation 
expenditures include the cost of: (i) establishing the volume and grade of deposits through drilling of core 
samples, trenching and sampling activities in an orebody that is classified as either a mineral resource or a 
proven and probable reserve; (ii) determining the optimal methods of extraction and metallurgical and 
treatment processes; (iii) studies related to surveying, transportation and infrastructure requirements; (iv) 
permitting activities; and (v) economic evaluations to determine whether development of the mineralized 
material is commercially justified, including scoping, prefeasibility and final feasibility studies. 
 
Acquisition costs for exploration and evaluation stage properties are capitalized.  Exploration and 
evaluation expenditures incurred prior to the date of a positive economic analysis on a mineral property 
are expensed as incurred.  Exploration and evaluation expenditures incurred subsequent to completion of 
a positive economic analysis, including exploratory drilling and related expenditures are capitalized as 
mineral property in the accounting period the expenditure is incurred if Management determines there is 
sufficient evidence that the expenditure will result in a future economic benefit.  
 
Management reviews the carrying value of capitalized exploration and evaluation costs at least annually.  
The review is based on the Corporation’s intention for development of the underlying asset. 
 

l) Recoverability of long-lived assets 
Assets subject to depreciation, depletion and amortization are tested for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is 
recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive profit (loss) for the amount by which the 
asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are 
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows (cash generating 
units). Previously impaired non-financial assets are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the 
end of each reporting period. 

 
m) Financial assets 

Classification of financial assets depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. 
Routine purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on trade date, the date on which the Group 
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Management determines the classification of financial assets at 
initial recognition. The Group classifies and provides for financial assets as follows: 
 
i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading. A financial asset 

is classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the short term. 
Derivatives are also categorized as held for trading unless they are designated as hedges. Financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognized at fair value, and transaction costs are 
expensed. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are presented in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive profit (loss) in the period in which they arise. 
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ii) Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market. Loans and receivables are carried at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method, less a provision for impairment. 
 

iii) Available-for-sale financial assets, comprising principally short-term investments and marketable 
equity securities, are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or not classified in any 
other category. Investments are designated as available-for-sale financial assets if they do not have 
fixed maturities and fixed or determinable payments and Management intends to hold them for the 
medium to long term. Investments are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs. Changes 
in fair value of monetary and non-monetary securities in this classification are recognized in reserves, 
except for changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in foreign currency classified 
as available-for-sale, which are analyzed between translation differences resulting from changes in the 
amortized cost of the security and other changes in the carrying amount of the security. Translation 
differences related to changes in the amortized cost are recognized in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive loss; other changes in the carrying amount are recognized in reserves. 

 
When sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments previously recognized in reserves are 
included in profit or loss. In the case of equity securities, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value 
of a security below its cost is considered as an indicator that the securities are impaired. 

 
Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have 
expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership. 

 
The Group assesses at each balance date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or 
group of financial assets is impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the 
cumulative loss measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less 
any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognized in profit or loss, is removed from equity 
and recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive profit (loss). 

 
n) Share capital 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares 
or share-based compensation are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.  
 

o) Borrowings 
Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are 
subsequently carried at amortized cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) 
and the redemption value is recognized as an adjustment to interest expense over the period of the 
borrowings using the effective interest method. 
 
Fees paid to establish loan facilities are recognized as transaction costs of the loan and are deferred and 
recognized as an adjustment to the effective interest rate on the loan once drawn. 
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Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability, or a portion of the liability, for at least twelve months after the reporting date. 
 
General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of 
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their 
intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially 
ready for their intended use or sale. 
 

p) Current and deferred income taxes 
Income tax expense or benefit for the period includes current and deferred income taxes.  Tax expense or 
benefit is recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive profit (loss), except to the extent it 
relates to items recognized in other comprehensive profit (loss) or directly in reserves.  In such cases, 
associated income tax is recognized in other comprehensive profit (loss) or directly in reserves. 
 
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at 
the statement of position date in the countries where Group entities operate.  Management periodically 
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is 
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to 
be paid to the tax authorities. 
 
Deferred income tax is recognized using the liability method on temporary differences arising between the 
tax bases of assets and liabilities and the respective carrying amounts in the consolidated financial 
statements. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the statement of position date and are expected to apply when the related 
deferred income tax asset is realized or the deferred income tax liability is settled. 
  
Deferred income tax assets are recognized only to the extent it is probable that future taxable profit will be 
available against which the temporary differences can be utilized. 
 
Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and 
associates, except for deferred income tax liabilities where the timing of the reversals of the temporary 
difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in 
the foreseeable future. 
 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset 
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities 
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different 
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis. 
 

q) Share-based payments 
Fair value of share options and restricted share units under incentive programs is measured at grant date 
and amortized over the period during which the employee becomes unconditionally entitled to the equity 
instrument. Amounts amortized are expensed or, to the extent appropriate, are capitalized as the cost of 
constructing long-term assets. Total value is determined by reference to the fair value of the instrument 
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granted, excluding the impact of any non-market service and performance vesting conditions. Non-market 
vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of instruments that are expected to vest.  
 
The fair value of the instruments granted is measured using generally accepted valuation techniques, 
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the instruments are granted.  At each reporting 
date, the entity revises its estimates of the number of instruments that are expected to vest based on the 
non-marketing vesting conditions.  It recognizes the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive profit (loss), with a corresponding adjustment to the 
reserve.  The proceeds received, if any, net of any directly attributable transaction costs, are credited to 
share capital when the instruments are exercised or otherwise redeemed.  
 

r) Provisions 
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 
events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount 
can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognized for future operating losses. 
 
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the 
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognized as 
interest expense. 
 
An obligation to incur decommissioning and reclamation costs generally occurs when an environmental 
disturbance is caused by exploration, evaluation, development or ongoing production. Costs are estimated 
on the basis of a formal closure plan and are subject to periodic review. 
 
Decommissioning and site reclamation costs arising from the installation of plant and other site 
preparation work, discounted to present value, are provided when the obligation to incur such costs arises 
and are capitalized into the cost of the related asset. These costs are charged through depreciation and/or 
depletion of the asset and unwinding of the discount on the provision.  
 

s) Revenue recognition 
i) Revenue from metal sales is recognized when all the following conditions have been satisfied: 

 The significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred; 
 Neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership, nor 

effective control over the goods sold, has been retained; 
 The amount of revenue can be measured reliably; 
 It is probable that economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Corporation; 

and  
 The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably. 

 
ii) Gold Bullion Sales 

Gold bullion is sold primarily in the international gold market. The sales price is fixed based on the gold 
spot price and revenue from gold bullion sales is recorded at the time of physical delivery, which is also 
the date that title to the gold passes. 
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t) Earnings per share 
The Corporation presents basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”) data for its common shares. Basic 
EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to common shareholders of the Corporation by 
the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is determined 
by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to common shareholders and the weighted average number of 
common shares outstanding and for the effects of all dilutive potential common shares, which comprise 
convertible notes and share-based compensation granted to employees.  
 

u) New and amended accounting standards adopted by the Group 
The adoption of the following new standards, interpretations and amendments resulted to changes in the 
Group’s accounting policies, but did not have material impact on the financial position or performance on 
the Group on initial application. 
i) IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures (“IFRS 7”) was amended to provide additional information 

about the effect or potential effect of offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities.  The Group 
assessed its financial instruments on January 1, 2013 and determined that the adoption of IFRS 7 did 
not result in any changes in the disclosures of its financial instruments. 
 

ii) IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements (“IFRS 10”) and IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other 
Entities (“IFRS 12”) replace IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and SIC‐12, 
Consolidation ‐ Special Purpose Entities and provide guidance on the consolidation model, which 
identifies the elements of control.  These standards provide a comprehensive standard on disclosure 
requirements for all forms of interests in other entities, including subsidiaries, joint arrangements, 
associates and unconsolidated structured entities.  The Group assessed its consolidation conclusions 
on January 1, 2013 and determined that the adoption of IFRS 10 did not result in any change in the 
consolidation status of any of its subsidiaries and investees.  See item iv) below for the impacts to the 
Group of IFRS 12. 

 
iii) IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements (“IFRS 11”) supersedes IAS 31, Interests in Joint Ventures and SIC‐13, 

Jointly Controlled Entities, to establish principles for financial reporting by parties to a joint 
arrangement.  The new standard defines two types of arrangements: Joint Operations and Joint 
Ventures.  Focus is on the rights and obligations of the parties involved to reflect the joint 
arrangement, thereby requiring parties to recognize the individual assets and liabilities to which they 
have rights or for which they are responsible, even if the joint arrangement operates in a separate 
legal entity. 

 
The Group has reclassified its involvement with Kartaltepe Madencilik Sanayi Ticaret Anonim Şirketi 
(“Kartaltepe”), Polimetal Madencilik Sanayi Ticaret Anonim Şirketi (“Polimetal”), and Tunçpınar 
Madencilik Sanayi Ve Ticaret Anonim Şirketi (“Tunçpınar”) from jointly controlled entities to joint 
ventures.  The Group’s interests in Kartaltepe, Polimetal, and Tunçpınar were previously accounted for 
using the proportionate consolidation method and now are being accounted for using the equity 
method of accounting. As a result of this change in accounting, the investments in Kartaltepe, 
Polimetal, and Tunçpınar as at January 1, 2013 has been recognized at the net carrying amount of the 
assets and liabilities of Kartaltepe, Polimetal, and Tunçpınar previously proportionately consolidated 
by the Group.  The Group assessed whether the investment was impaired as at January 1, 2013 and 
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determined no impairment existed.  Subsequent to January 1, 2013, the Group has accounted for its 
investment using the equity method of accounting, and recognized $4.8 million of expense in the 2013 
Consolidated Statement of Profit (Loss) related to its share of operating losses in these Joint Ventures. 
 

iv) IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities creates a comprehensive disclosure standard to address 
the requirements for subsidiaries, joint arrangements and associates including the reporting entity’s 
involvement with other entities.  It also includes the requirements for unconsolidated structured 
entities (i.e. special purpose entities).  As discussed above, upon adoption of IFRS 11 the Group has 
reclassified its involvement with Kartaltepe, Polimetal, and Tunçpınar from jointly controlled entities to 
joint ventures.  The Group’s interests in Kartaltepe, Polimetal, and Tunçpınar were previously 
accounted for using the proportionate consolidation method and now are being accounted for using 
the equity method of accounting.  These joint ventures were created to form a strategic relationship 
and outlined a structure for cooperation and cross-investment to jointly explore and develop other 
mineral properties in Turkey on a 50/50 basis.  The joint ventures are not material to the Group 
individually, or in aggregate. 

 
v) IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement (“IFRS 13”) sets out a single IFRS framework for measuring fair value 

and requires disclosures about fair value measurements.  The Group assessed its financial instruments 
on January 1, 2013 and determined that the adoption of IFRS 13 did not result in any significant 
changes in the disclosures of its financial instruments. 

 
vi) IAS 27, Separate Financial Statements (“IAS 27”) aligns with the new consolidation guidance prescribed 

in IFRS 10 as it applies to investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates when an entity 
either elects or is required by local regulations to prepare separate financial statements in accordance 
with IFRS.  The Group assessed its financial instruments on January 1, 2013 and determined that the 
adoption of IAS 27 did not result in any changes in the disclosures of its financial instruments. 

 
vii) IAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (“IAS 28”) was amended as a consequence of the 

issue of IFRS 10, IFRS 11, and IFRS 12.  IAS 28 provides the accounting guidance for investments in 
associates and sets out the requirements for the application of the equity method when accounting for 
investments in associates and joint ventures.  As result of the adoption of IFRS 11, The Group’s 
interests in Kartaltepe, Polimetal, and Tunçpınar were previously accounted for using the 
proportionate consolidation method and now are being accounted for using the equity method of 
accounting.  However, the joint ventures are not material to the Group individually, or in aggregate. 

 
viii) In October 2011, the IASB issued International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) 

20, Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine (“IFRIC 20”).  IFRIC 20 provides guidance 
on the accounting for the costs of stripping activity in the production phase of surface mining when 
two benefits accrue to the entity from the stripping activity:  a) useable ore that can be used to 
produce inventory; and b) improved access to further quantities of material that will be mined in 
future periods.  The Group applied IFRIC 20 starting January 1, 2013 and amended its accounting policy 
on production phase stripping costs to require its open-pit mines to consider components of the pit in 
their assessment of whether or not a future benefit has been created by the mining activities in the 
period.  Based on the Group’s analysis, approximately $15.4 million of the deferred stripping cost 
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accumulated in 2012 at the Manganese open pit in Turkey has been identified as having future benefit; 
therefore, this amount has been reclassified to mineral properties and equipment from inventory as of 
December 31, 2012.  
 
As such, the Group adjusted previously reported December 31, 2012 balances in the Consolidated 
Statement of Financial Position as follows: 
 

 December 31, 2012 
 

Previously reported 
 

Restated 
Inventories  $132,319  $116,967 

Total Current Assets  432,418  417,066 
    
Mineral Properties and Equipment, net 1,006,744  1,022,096 

Total Noncurrent Assets  1,027,963  1,043,315 
 

ix) There was no impact on the Consolidated Statement of Profit (Loss), as the deferred stripping cost had 
not been recognized through the Statement of Profit (Loss) during 2012 period, hence prior year 
deficit did not need to be adjusted. The reclassified deferred stripping asset has not been amortized 
either, as the production from the identified ore body volume has not started as of December 31, 
2012. 

 
v) Future changes to standards 

The following new standards, new interpretations and amendments to standards and interpretations have 
been issued but are effective for financial years beginning January 1, 2014 or after and have not been early 
adopted.  Pronouncements that are not applicable to the Group have been excluded from those described 
below.  The Group does not expect significant impacts upon adoption of the following standards. 

 
i) Accounting standards effective on or after January 1, 2014: 

 
A. Amendment to IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation, on assets and liabilities offsetting. 

These amendments are to the application guidance in IAS 32, ‘Financial instruments: Presentation’, 
and clarify some of the requirements for offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities on the 
balance sheet.  

B. Amendment to IAS 36, Impairment of assets on recoverable amount disclosures. This amendment 
addresses the disclosure of information about the recoverable amount of impaired assets if that 
amount is based on fair value less costs of disposal. 

C. IFRIC 21, Levies. This is an interpretation of IAS 37, Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent 
assets. IAS 37 sets out criteria for the recognition of a liability, one of which is the requirement for 
the entity to have a present obligation as a result of a past event (known as an obligating event). 
The interpretation clarifies that the obligating event that gives rise to a liability to pay a levy is the 
activity described in the relevant legislation that triggers the payment of the levy. 
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ii) Accounting standard effective on or after January 1, 2015: 
 
A. IFRS 9, Financial Instruments. In November 2009, the IASB issued IFRS 9 as the first step in its 

project to replace International Accounting Standard 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement.  IFRS 9 retains, but simplifies the mixed measurement model and establishes two 
primary measurement categories for financial assets: amortized cost and fair value.  The basis of 
classification depends on an entity’s business model and the contractual cash flow of the financial 
asset.  Classification is made at the time the financial asset is initially recognized, namely when the 
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  IFRS 9 amends some of 
the requirements of IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures, including added disclosures about 
investments in equity instruments measured at fair value in other comprehensive profit (loss), and 
guidance on financial liabilities and derecognition of financial instruments.  In December 2011, the 
IASB issued an amendment that adjusted the mandatory effective date of IFRS 9 from January 1, 
2013 to January 1, 2015. 

 
 

4. Financial risk management 

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including interest rate risk, currency 
risk, and commodity price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.  The Group’s overall risk management program 
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the 
Group’s financial performance.  Risk management is carried out by Corporate Finance under policies approved 
by the board of directors.  Group treasury identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close cooperation 
with the Group’s operating units.  The board provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as 
written policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use of 
derivative financial instruments and non-derivative financial instruments and investment of excess liquidity. 
 
The Group’s risk exposures and the impact on the Group’s financial instruments are summarized below: 
 

a) Credit risk 
The portion of cash and cash equivalents held by banks and receivable balances are subject to credit risk.  
Such credit risk is managed by diversifying holdings among various financial institutions and by purchasing 
short-term investment grade securities and money market fund holdings, including bankers’ acceptances, 
guaranteed investment contracts, corporate commercial paper, United States and Canadian treasury bills, 
and United States and Canadian agencies investments in accordance with the Group’s investment policy.  
Investment objectives are primarily directed towards preservation of capital and liquidity.  The investment 
policy provides limitations on concentrations of credit risk, credit quality and the duration of investments, 
as well as minimum rating requirements for cash and cash equivalents held in banks and financial 
institutions.  The majority of the Group’s receivable balances consist of Turkish value-added tax 
recoverable claims.  The Group is also exposed to credit risk to the extent these amounts are not received.  
As at December 31, 2013, receivables from the Turkish government totaled $9.6 million.  Management 
monitors its exposure to credit risk on a continual basis. 
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The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the 
consolidated statement of position.  The Group monitors its exposure to credit risk on an ongoing basis.  
Concentration of credit risk exists with respect to the Group’s cash and cash equivalents, which totaled      
$289,649  and $277,258 ($91 million of which was related to discontinued operations) as at December 31, 
2013 and 2012, respectively. 
 

b) Liquidity risk 
The Group’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to provide reasonable assurance that it can provide 
sufficient capital to meet liabilities when due.  The Group maintains sufficient cash and cash equivalents in 
order to meet short-term business requirements.  The Group’s ability to settle borrowings and other long 
term liabilities when due is dependent upon future liquidity from capital sources or positive cash flows 
from commercial operations. 
 
The table below analyzes the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings 
based on the remaining period at the consolidated statement of financial position date to the contractual 
maturity date.  The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. 
 

Less than 
6 months

6 months 
to 1 year

1 year to  
2 years

2 years to 
5 years

As at December 31, 2013:
Trade and other payables  $  27,509 - - -
Borrowings - - - -

Total $27,509 $0 $0 $0 
As at December 31, 2012:

Trade and other payables $52,204 $106,401 - -
Borrowings 8,480 60,400 482 -

Total $60,684 $166,801 $482 $0  
  

c) Market risk 
i) Interest rate risk 

The Group holds a portion of cash and cash equivalents in bank accounts that earn variable interest 
rates.  All other financial assets and liabilities in the form of receivables, payables and provisions are 
non-interest bearing.  Future net cash flows from interest income on cash and cash equivalents and 
interest expense on variable rate borrowings will be affected by interest rate fluctuations.  The Group 
manages interest rate risk by maintaining an investment policy for short-term investments and cash 
and cash equivalents.  This policy focuses primarily on preservation of capital and liquidity.  The Group 
currently does not engage in any hedging or derivative transactions to manage interest rate risk. 

 
As at December 31, 2013, Management estimates that if interest rates had changed by 1% (i.e. 100 
basis points), assuming all other variables remained constant, the impact to pre-tax net profit (loss) 
would have been approximately $2,896 (2012 - $1,805). 
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ii) Currency risk  
The Group’s functional currencies are the U.S. dollar.  The Group is affected by currency transaction 
risk and currency translation risk.  Consequently, fluctuations of the U.S. dollar in relation to other 
currencies impact the fair value of financial assets and liabilities and operating results. 
 
Certain short-term financial liabilities are denominated in other currencies, predominately Turkish 
Liras.  To reduce exposure to currency transaction risk, the Group maintains cash and cash equivalents 
in each of these currencies to meet short-term liquidity requirements.  Other financial assets and 
liabilities subject to currency translation risk primarily include non-U.S. dollar cash and cash 
equivalents, and receivables. 
  
As at December 31, 2013, Management estimates that if foreign exchange rates had weakened 10% 
against the U.S. dollar, assuming all other variables remained constant, pre-tax profit would have been 
$1,924 (2012 - $8,652) lower, and a strengthening of 10% in foreign exchange rates, assuming all other 
variables remained constant, would have increased  pre-tax profit by $1,574 (2012 - $7,079).  This is 
mainly a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of Turkish Lira denominated cash and 
cash equivalents, receivables, and payables. 
  

iii) Commodity price risk  
The market price of gold is a significant driver of profitability and ability to generate free cash flow.  
The Corporation sells gold produced in the international market at prevailing market rates.  Future 
declines in commodity prices may impact the valuation of long-lived assets, and fluctuations in 
commodity pricing may impact cash flows and profitability.  
 
As at December 31, 2013, Management estimates that if gold prices had changed by 10%, assuming all 
other variables remained constant, the impact to gold sales would have been approximately $37,708 
(2012 - $33,757). 
 

d) Fair value of financial instruments 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value; subsequent measurement is 
dependent on the applicable classification.  The Group has classified cash and cash equivalents as held for 
trading, the carrying value of which approximates fair value.  The Group has classified accounts payable 
and accrued liabilities, and interest payable as other financial liabilities.  The carrying amounts of accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities, and interest payable approximate the fair values of those financial 
instruments, due to the short-term maturity of such instruments. 

 
The Corporation holds minor amounts of available-for-sale securities for which fair value is based on 
unadjusted quoted prices in active markets. Changes in the market value of available-for-sale equity 
securities as well as the related foreign exchange and tax impact, if any, are accounted for in accumulated 
other comprehensive income until the equity securities are sold or are determined to be other than-
temporarily impaired. When available-for-sale equity securities are sold or are determined to be other-
than-temporarily impaired, the related accumulated change in accumulated other comprehensive income 
is reversed and the actual gain or loss on disposal, or the impairment charge, is recognized in net earnings. 
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e) Capital risk management  
The Group's objectives when managing capital (including borrowings and share capital) are to: 

 Ensure the Group has sufficient cash available to support the continuing mining, development, 
exploration and other areas of the business; 

 Ensure the Group has sufficient capital and capacity to support its long-term growth strategy; 
 Provide investors with an appropriate rate of return in context of a balanced risk profile; 
 Ensure compliance with borrowing covenant ratios; and 
 Minimize counterparty credit risk. 
 

The Group adjusts its capital structure based on changes in business results, economic conditions, and the 
Group's strategy.  The Group, upon the Board of Directors approval, has the ability to adjust its capital 
structure by issuing new equity, drawing on existing credit facilities, issuing new debt and by selling or 
acquiring assets.  The Group can also control how much capital is returned to shareholders through 
dividends and share buyback, within the context of its strategy and debt restrictions. 

f) On March 6, 2013, the Corporation adopted a dividend policy to return a minimum of 20% of free cash 
flow to the Corporation’s shareholders annually beginning in 2014, subject to pertinent financial and 
operational considerations by the BOD. Free Cash Flow is defined as the post‐tax cash flows generated by 
operations less investing activities of existing operations, and less external debt instrument payments, 
proceeds from sales of assets and dividends to minority interest owners.  
 
 

5. Critical accounting estimates and judgments 

Many of the amounts included in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position require Management to 
make judgments and/or estimates.  These judgments and estimates are continuously evaluated and are based 
on Management’s experience and knowledge of the relevant facts and circumstances.  Actual results may 
differ from the amounts included in the consolidated statement of financial position.  Information about such 
judgments and estimates is contained in the accounting policies within these Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements, and the key areas are summarized below. 
 
a) Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates 
will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year are discussed below. 

 
b) Critical judgments in applying the entity's accounting policies 

i) Mineral reserve and resource estimates 
Figures for reserves and resources are determined in accordance with National Instrument 43-101, 
Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects (“NI 43-101”) of the Canadian Securities Administrators 
and Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum standards. Proven and probable reserves 
are the economically mineable parts of the Corporation’s measured and indicated mineral resources 
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demonstrated by at least a preliminary feasibility study. The Corporation estimates its proven and 
probable reserves and measured and indicated and inferred mineral resources based on information 
compiled by appropriately qualified persons. The information relating to the geological data on the 
size, depth and shape of an orebody requires complex geological judgments to interpret the data. The 
estimation of future cash flows related to proven and probable reserves is based upon factors such as 
estimates of foreign exchange rates, commodity prices, future capital requirements and production 
costs along with geological assumptions and judgments made in estimating the size and grade of the 
orebody. Changes in the proven and probable reserves or measured and indicated and inferred 
mineral resources estimates may impact the carrying value of property, plant and equipment, 
reclamation and remediation obligations, recognition of deferred tax amounts and depreciation, 
depletion and amortization.  
 

ii) Depreciation, depletion and amortization 
Plant assets and other facilities used directly in mining activities are depreciated using the UOP 
method over a period not to exceed the estimated life of the orebody based on recoverable ounces to 
be mined from proven and probable reserves. Mobile and other equipment is depreciated, net of 
residual value, on a straight-line basis, over the useful life of the equipment but does not exceed the 
related estimated life of the mine based on proven and probable reserves. The calculation of the UOP 
rate, and therefore the annual depreciation, depletion and amortization expense, could be materially 
affected by changes in the underlying estimates. Changes in estimates can be the result of actual 
future production differing from current forecasts of future production, expansion of mineral reserves 
through exploration activities, differences between estimated and actual costs of mining, and 
differences in gold price used in the estimation of mineral reserves. Significant judgment is involved in 
the determination of useful life and residual values for the computation of depreciation, depletion and 
amortization and no assurance can be given that actual useful lives and residual values will not differ 
significantly from current assumptions. 
 

iii) Inventories 
The assumptions used in the valuation of work-in-process inventories include estimates of gold 
contained in the ore stacked on leach pads, assumptions of the amount of gold stacked that is 
expected to be recovered from the leach pads, and an assumption of the gold price expected to be 
realized when the gold is recovered. If these estimates or assumptions prove to be inaccurate, the 
Group could be required to write-down the recorded value of its work-in-process inventories, which 
would reduce the Group’s earnings and working capital. 
 

iv) Mine restoration provision estimates 
The Group’s calculation of rehabilitation and closure provisions (and corresponding capitalized closure 
cost assets where necessary) rely on estimates of costs required to rehabilitate and restore disturbed 
land to appropriate post-operations condition. Key assumptions are reviewed regularly and adjusted 
to reflect current estimates used to calculate these balances. Significant judgment is required in 
determining the provision for mine closure and rehabilitation as there are many transactions and other 
factors that will affect the ultimate costs required to rehabilitate the mine site. Factors that will affect 
this liability include future development, changes in technology, price increases and changes in 
interest rates. 
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v) Income taxes 
The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in 
determining the worldwide provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations 
undertaken during the ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax determination is 
uncertain. The Group recognizes tax-related assets and liabilities based on the Group’s current 
understanding of tax laws as applied to the Group’s circumstances. Where the final tax outcome of 
these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact 
the current and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. 
 

vi) Recoverability of long-lived assets 
The Group reviews and evaluates long-term non-financial assets for impairment at least annually or 
when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the related carrying amounts may not be 
recoverable. This assessment is done at the cash generating unit level, which is the lowest level for 
which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other assets. An impairment 
is considered to exist if the recoverable amount, determined as the higher of the estimated fair value 
less costs to sell or value in use, is less than the carrying amount. Future cash flows are estimated 
based on expected future production, commodity prices, operating costs and capital costs. Changes in 
any of the assumptions or estimates used in determining the fair value of assets could impact the 
impairment analysis. 
 
 

6. Cash and cash equivalents 
31-Dec 31-Dec

2013 2012

Cash at banks and on hand 30,906$          112,017$        
Short-term deposits -                        10,384             
Money market funds and other 258,743          154,857           

289,649$        277,258$         
 
Cash and cash equivalents earn interest based on market rates applicable to each form of interest-bearing 
instrument.  Cash is deposited at reputable financial institutions.  The fair value of cash and cash equivalents 
equates to the values as disclosed in this note. 
 
 

7. Receivables and other 

31-Dec 31-Dec
2013 2012

Consumption taxes recoverable 9,632$             12,335$           
Prepaid expenses 2,532               8,627               
Other current assets 4,232               1,879               

16,396$          22,841$            
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Under a separate letter of credit arrangement, the Group maintains funds in a restricted bank account within 
Anagold Madencilik Sanayi Ve Ticaret Anonim Sirketi (“Anagold”).  The letter of credit is with Türkiye Vakıflar 
Bankası T.A.O. associated with the inception of Kartaltepe Madencilik Sanayi Ticaret Anonim Şirketi, Polimetal 
Madencilik Sanayi Ticaret Anonim Şirketi, and Tunçpınar Madencilik Sanayi Ve Ticaret Anonim Şirketi.  As of 
December 31, 2013, the balance is $1,130 (2012: $1,130) and is included within other current assets above. 
 
 

8. Inventories 
31-Dec 31-Dec

2013 2012

Finished goods 1,352$             14,692$           
Work-in-process 45,235             64,990             
Ore stockpiles 155                   20,243             
Supplies and other 11,132             17,042             

57,874$          116,967$         
 
December 31, 2012 inventory balance included in $49,999 related to Discontinued operations. In addition, the 
Corporation carries sulfide inventories as non-current asset, as shown in note 11. 
 

9. Mineral properties and equipment, net 

Mineral  
properties1

Mining plant 
and equipment

Non-producing 
properties2 Total

Balance at January 1, 2012 492,435$  171,113$          767,798$        1,431,346$ 
Additions      156,109                20,462               22,217 198,788       
Disposals             (980)                    (368)                     (53) (1,401)          
Rehabilitation provision         17,326                         -                          -   17,326         
Depreciation, depletion     (109,511)              (39,645)             (15,956) (165,112)      
Impairment loss and write-downs     (284,444)                         -             (215,627) (500,071)      
Adoption of new accounting pronouncement         15,352 15,352         
Translation of Australian assets for 
presentation currency         12,754                  2,150               10,964           25,868 

Balance at December 31, 2012  $  299,041  $         153,712  $        569,343  $ 1,022,096 
Additions         15,985                  7,225               57,035 80,245         
Disposals             (575)                    (100)                   (565) (1,240)          
Rehabilitation provision           2,109 2,109            
Depreciation, depletion       (30,957)              (11,278) (42,235)        
Discontinued Operations     (120,953)              (96,193)           (513,368) (730,514)      

Balance at December 31, 2013  $  164,650  $            53,366  $        112,445  $    330,461  
 

1 Mineral properties represents assets subject to depreciation including production stage properties, acquired mineral reserves, capitalized mine 
development costs, and capitalized pre-production stripping. 

2 Non-producing properties includes construction-in-progress, capital projects and acquired mineral resources and capitalized exploration. 
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Non-current assets are tested for impairment when events or changes in circumstances suggest that the 
carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount.  The recoverable amount is the higher of Fair Value Less 
Cost to Sell (“FVLCS”) and Value in Use (“VIU”) approaches.  The assessment is done at the Cash Generating 
Unit (“CGU”) level, which is the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the 
cash flows of other assets.   
 
Impairment indicators were identified for the Australian Business Unit during the fourth quarter 2012 and the 
second and third quarters of 2013.  As discussed in Note 21, all Australian Business Unit assets were disposed 
of during 2013. 

 
 
10. Income taxes 

a) Income tax expense  - The following table summarizes activity for the years ended December 31: 
 

 

2013 2012
Current 52,106$       4,864$         
Deferred:

Origination and reversal of temporary differences 10,427         11,772         
Adjustment in respect of prior years 12,611         -                     

Income Tax Expense 75,144$       16,636$        
 

b) Reconciliation of effective tax rate - The following table summarizes activity for the years ended 
December 31: 

 
2013 2012

Net profit before income tax for the year 172,667$     226,597$     

Income tax expense at Canadian statutory rate of 30% 51,800         67,979         

Effect of difference in foreign tax rates (20,556)       (22,494)       
Investment tax credit utilization 6,584           (27,952)       
Unrecognized income tax assets 9,410           (2,622)         
Foreign currency valuations1 23,012         (4,923)         
Other 4,894           6,648           

Provision for income taxes 75,144$       16,636$        
 

1 The Corporation applies the liability method to recognize deferred income tax expense on temporary         
differences between the tax bases of assets and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. By 
application of this method, the Corporation recognizes gains and losses on deferred income tax due to the 
effect of the change in the value of the Turkish lira on the tax bases of the fixed assets of the Turkish 
subsidiaries, which have the U.S. dollar as their functional currency. These gains and losses are required by 
IFRS even though the devalued tax basis of the relevant assets may result in a reduced dollar value of 
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amortization deductions for tax purposes in future periods throughout the useful life of those assets. As a 
result, the corresponding deferred income tax charge does not represent a separate obligation for the 
Corporation that is due and payable in any of the relevant periods. 

 
c) Significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities 

2013 2012 2013 2012
Deferred income tax assets:

Incentive tax credits recognized 5,220$         18,063$       (12,843)$       5,945$             
Environmental provision 576               120               456                 120                   

Non-capital loss carry-forwards 4,933            -                     4,933             -                         
Incentive tax credits written down -                     -                     -                      -                         
Other 1,641            2,368            (727)               4,488               

12,370$       20,551$       (8,181)$         10,553$           
Deferred income tax liabilities:

Mineral properties and equipment (16,358)$      (9,802)$        (6,556)$         2,350$             
Share-based compensation (4,933)          -                     (4,933)            -                         
Other (3,666)         (942)             (3,368)           (1,131)             

(24,957)        (10,744)        (14,857)         1,219               
Deferred income tax asset (liability) - net (12,587)$      9,807$         (23,038)$       11,772$           

Unrecognized deferred tax assets: 2013 2012
Loss carry-forwards  $    132,138  $    106,488 
Capital loss carry-forwards  $ 1,093,673  $                  - 
Other  $         4,258  $       11,564 

Consolidated statement
of comprehensive

profit (loss)

Consolidated statement of 
financial position

 
 
Deferred income tax assets are recognized for tax loss carry-forwards to the extent that the realization of the 
related tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable.  The Group did not recognize deferred income 
tax assets of $364,739 (2012: $27,201) in respect of losses amounting to $132,138 (2012: $106,488) that can 
be carried forward against future taxable income, and in respect of capital losses amounting to 
$1,093,673.  Canadian operating losses total $86,267 and expire in 2014 through 2033, and Turkish losses total 
$10,145 and expire in 2014 through 2018. 
 
Deferred income tax liabilities of $32,759 (2012: $19,869) have not been recognized for the withholding tax 
and other taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings of certain subsidiaries.  Unremitted 
earnings totaled $327,592 at December 31, 2013 (2012: $198,590). 
 
Current tax for each taxable entity in the Group is based on the local taxable profit (loss) for the period at the 
local statutory tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the date of the statement of financial position.  
Deferred tax is recognized, using the liability method, on temporary differences between the carrying value of 
assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position and the corresponding tax bases used in the 
computation of taxable profit (loss).  Deferred tax is determined using tax rates and tax laws that are enacted 
or substantively enacted at the date of the statement of financial position and are expected to apply when the 
related deferred tax asset is realized or the deferred tax liability is settled. 
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11. Other Assets 

31-Dec 31-Dec
2013 2012

Inventory (sulfide ores) 13,005$          1,280$             
Equipment advances and other 4,770               10,132             

17,775$          11,412$            
 
 

12. Trade and other payables 

31-Dec 31-Dec
2013 2012

Trade payables and accruals 21,174$           155,733$        
Withholding taxes and other 6,335               2,872               

27,509$           158,605$         
 

December 31, 2012 Trade payable and accruals balance included in $59,426 related to Discontinued operations.  
 
 
13. Borrowings 

31-Dec 31-Dec
2013 2012

Current
Bank borrowings -$                      63,463$           
Lease liabilities -                        5,417               

-$                      68,880$           

Non-current
Lease liabilities -$                      482$                 

Total borrowings -$                      69,362$           

 
 
The Group, through its subsidiaries Anagold and Kurudere Madencilik A.Ş, entered into a $25 million three-year 
credit facility (the “Credit Facility”) with Standard Bank Plc on November 15, 2010.  The Credit Facility was of a 
revolving nature during the initial 12-month period and converted to a 24-month term note (the “Term Note”) 
in December 2011.  Interest is accrued on any outstanding balance at the one-month LIBOR rate plus 4.5%, and 
repayments of principal and accrued interest occur monthly until maturity in December 2013.  The amount 
due on this Credit Facility as of December 31, 2012 was $12,025 and was repaid in full in during 2013.  As of 
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December 31, 2013, the Corporation does not have any outstanding balances related to credit facilities or debt 
arrangements. 
 
Total borrowings as of December 31, 2012 also included $5,899 of lease liabilities and $51,438 of bank 
borrowings related to the Australian Business Unit.  The bank borrowings were repaid in full during 2013 and 
remaining lease obligation amounts were include in the sale of Australian Business Unit to Metals X as 
discussed in Note 21. 
 
 

14. Provisions 

Environmental provision: 31-Dec 31-Dec
2013 2012

Balance, beginning of year  $          62,739  $          41,219 
Arising during the period                 2,341              17,326 
Unwinding of discount                    183                 3,456 
Translation of Australian liability for presentation currency                          -                    738 
Less: Discontinued Operations             (48,726)                          - 

Balance, end of year  $          16,537  $          62,739  
 

The Group makes a full provision for the future cost of rehabilitating mine sites and related production 
facilities on a discounted basis at the time of developing the mines and installing and using those facilities.  The 
rehabilitation provision represents the present value (discounted utilizing estimated government bond rates) 
of rehabilitation costs relating to mine sites, the majority of which are expected to be incurred up to 2021.  
These provisions have been created based on third-party and internal management estimates.  Assumptions 
based on the current economic environment have been made, which Management believes are a reasonable 
basis upon which to estimate the future liability.  These estimates are reviewed regularly to take into account 
any material changes to the assumptions.  However, actual rehabilitation costs will ultimately depend upon 
future market prices for the necessary decommissioning works required which will reflect market conditions at 
the relevant time.  Furthermore, the timing of rehabilitation is likely to depend on when a mine ceases to 
produce at economically viable rates.  This, in turn, will depend upon future gold prices, which are inherently 
uncertain. 
 
 

15. Share capital and share-based payments 

a) Share capital  
The Corporation has an unlimited number of common shares, without nominal or par value, authorized for 
issuance and an unlimited number of preferred shares, without nominal or par value, issuable in series.  As of 
December 31, 2013, there have been no transactions involving preferred shares.  The following table 
summarizes activity for common shares: 
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Note
Number of 

Shares
$

Balance at January 1, 2012  280,356,646  $1,392,024 
Shares issued:

On conversion of debentures       6,695,750          56,187 
On exercise of share-based awards       1,265,060             9,257 

Balance at December 31, 2012  288,317,456  $1,457,468 
Shares issued:

On exercise of share-based awards 15b       1,926,096          11,750 
Balance at December 31, 2013  290,243,552  $1,469,218 

Common Shares

 
 

b) Share-based payments 
i) Option plans  

The Corporation adopted a share-based compensation plan on June 21, 2005 (the “2005 Plan”), and 
subsequently amended and restated on May 31, 2007, and further amended on January 31, 2011 (the 
“2011 Plan”) at 6,194,829, an amount equal to the total number of options outstanding as of April 28, 
2011.  No further options will be issued under the 2011 Plan and the 2011 Plan remains in effect only 
until all options granted under it are exercised or lapse. 

 
The following table summarizes activity for the years ended December 31: 
 

2013 2012

Options to 
acquire 
shares

Weighted 
average 

exercise price

Options to 
acquire 
shares

Weighted 
average 

exercise price

Outstanding - Beginning of year 889,218         3.39$              2,564,817   3.86$                
Forfeited* (472,230)        3.41                (795,572)     (4.90)                 
Exercised (305,663)        1.88                (880,027)     (3.59)                 

Outstanding - End of year 111,325         4.31                889,218      3.39                  
Exercisable – End of year 111,325         4.31$              889,218      3.39$                 

 

* includes shares cancelled in connection with ‘cashless exercise’ elections. 
 
The remaining outstanding share options expire in 2014.  
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ii) Restricted share unit plan 
In May 2009, shareholders approved a restricted share unit (“RSU”) plan (the “2009 RSU Plan”) for 
employees and officers.  Under the 2009 RSU Plan, 2,000,000 common shares of the Corporation were 
reserved for issuance pursuant to the 2009 RSU Plan.  
 
On June 2, 2011, shareholders approved an amendment to the 2009 RSU Plan to fix the total number 
of RSUs issuable under the 2009 RSU Plan at 1,642,738, an amount equal to the total number of RSUs 
outstanding as of April 28, 2011.  As such, no further RSUs would be issued under the 2009 RSU Plan 
after June 2, 2011, and the 2009 RSU Plan would remain in effect only until all RSUs granted under the 
2009 RSU Plan vest or lapse. 
 
On June 2, 2011, the Corporation adopted two new RSU plans, the 2011 RSU plan and the NED RSU 
Plan (collectively, the “Alacer RSU Plans”).  The aggregate number of common shares issuable pursuant 
to the Alacer RSU Plans, together with the aggregate number of common shares issuable pursuant to 
any other previously established or proposed share compensation arrangement of the Corporation, 
shall not exceed 5% of the total number of issued and outstanding common shares (calculated on a 
non-diluted basis) and the award value of all awards shall not exceed 1% of the total number of issued 
and outstanding common shares (calculated on a non-diluted basis) and the award value of all awards 
shall not exceed $100,000 in value of equity per non-executive director.  The maximum number of 
common shares issuable to insiders under the Alacer RSU Plans, or when combined with any other 
previously established or proposed share compensation arrangements, at any time or within any 12 
month period, may not exceed 5% of the outstanding issue. 
 
Each RSU becomes payable as they vest over their lives, typically three years, are subject to normal 
performance criteria, and entitles participants to receive one common share of the Corporation.  
Alternatively, the Corporation, at its discretion, may elect to satisfy all or part of its payment obligation 
in cash.  Fair value at grant date is based on market price of Corporation’s common shares.  In the 
event an RSU participant’s employment is terminated with the Corporation or one of its affiliates, or 
service as a Director, or engagement as a service provider to the Corporation or one of its affiliates, 
terminates for any reason other than death, such RSU participant’s RSUs will be forfeited and no 
common shares of the Corporation will be issued. 
 
The following table summarizes activity for the years ended December 31: 
 

 

2013 2012

Number of 
RSUs

Weighted 
average 

exercise price

Number of 
RSUs

Weighted 
average 

exercise price

Outstanding - Beginning of year 2,824,594     6.85$              1,533,350   8.72$                
Granted 2,445,773     2.21                1,730,099   5.43                  
Vested and redeemed (1,600,525)    6.89                (375,678)     8.34                  
Forfeited (615,603)        6.86                (63,177)       9.24                  

Outstanding – End of year 3,054,239     3.11$              2,824,594   6.85$                
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iii) Deferred share unit plan 
In May 2009, shareholders approved a deferred share unit (“DSU”) plan (the “DSU Plan”) pursuant to 
which directors of the Corporation may be granted DSUs.  A total of 1,000,000 common shares of the 
Corporation were reserved for issuance pursuant to the DSU Plan.  On June 2, 2011, shareholders 
approved an amendment to the DSU Plan stating no additional grants of units would be made under 
the DSU Plan after June 2, 2011, and the DSU Plan would remain in effect until all DSUs granted under 
the DSU Plan have been redeemed.  There were 34,916 DSUs outstanding as of December 31, 2013. 
 
 

16. Reserves 

Functional 
currency 

translations
Share-based 

payments

Available-
for-sale 

investments Total

Balance at January 1, 2012 1,840$               18,501$             174$                   20,515$             
Functional currency translation 20,040               -                           -                           20,040               
Share-based award exercises -                           (7,222)                -                           (7,222)                
Share-based compensation expense -                           7,521                 -                           7,521                 
Change in fair values -                           -                          (147)                    (147)                    

Balance at December 31, 2012 21,880$             18,800$             27$                     40,707$             
Functional currency translation (2,225)                -                           (27)                      (2,252)                
Reclassification of foreign currency translation       
adjustment from reserves1 (19,655)              -                           -                           (19,655)              
Share-based award exercises -                           (11,561)              -                           (11,561)              
Share-based compensation expense -                           7,488                 -                           7,488                 
Change in fair values -                           -                          -                           -                           

Balance at December 31, 2013 -$                        14,727$             -$                        14,727$              
 

1 The amount includes $15.6 and $4.1 million of accumulated currency translation adjustments reclassified to the results of discontinued operations 
for the sale of the Australian business unit in Q4 2013 and Frog’s Leg joint venture in Q2 2013, respectively. 
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17. Group entities 

    Ownership interest 

 
 Country of 

incorporation  
Dec 31, 

2013  
Dec 31, 

2012 

Alacer Management Corp.  USA  100%  100% 
Alacer Exploration Corp. S.à.r.l. 1  Luxembourg  100%  100% 
Alacer Minerals Development Corp. S.à.r.l. 1  Luxembourg  100%  100% 

Yeni Anadolu Mineral Madencilik Sanayi Ve Tic Ltd. Şti  Turkey  100%  100% 
Trakya Copper Operations Industry Trade Limited Corporation  Turkey  100%  100% 
Kartaltepe Madencilik Sanayi Ticaret Anonim Şirketi  Turkey  50%  50% 
Polimetal Madencilik Sanayi Ticaret Anonim Şirketi  Turkey  20%  50% 
Tunçpınar Madencilik Sanayi Ve Ticaret Anonim Şirketi  Turkey  50%  50% 

Alacer Gold Holdings Corp. S.à.r.l. 1  Luxembourg  100%  100% 
Alacer Gold Corp. S.à.r.l. 1  Luxembourg  100%  100% 

Kurudere Madencilik A.Ş.  Turkey  100%  100% 
Anagold Madencilik Sanayi Ve Ticaret Anonim Şirketi  Turkey  80%  80% 

Alacer Gold Pty Ltd.  Australia  0%  100% 
Avoca Resources Limited  Australia  0%  100% 

Avoca Mining Pty Ltd  Australia  0%  100% 
Dioro Exploration NL  Australia  0%  100% 

Mungari East Joint Venture  Australia  0%  49% 
HBJ Minerals Pty Ltd  Australia  0%  100% 

Hampton Gold Mining Areas Limited  United Kingdom  0%  100% 
1 Entity was incorporated in the Cayman Islands until December 2012.  See further discussion below. 

 
The Corporation is incorporated under the laws of the Yukon Territory, Canada.  The address of its registered 
office is 3081 Third Avenue, Whitehorse, Yukon, Y1A 4Z7.  Corporate administrative services are provided by 
Alacer Management Corp.  
 

On August 12, 2009, the Group and Lidya Madencilik A.Ş. (“Lidya Mining”) formalized an agreement to create a 
strategic relationship.  The strategic relationship allowed Lidya Mining to acquire up to a 20% interest in 
Çöpler, through ownership of Anagold stock, and outlined a structure for cooperation and cross-investment to 
jointly explore and develop other mineral properties in Turkey on a 50/50 basis, except for Polimetal. 
 
In addition and in conjunction with the strategic relationship with Lidya Mining, during 2011 the Corporation 
and Lidya Mining completed two joint ventures on other non-Çöpler Turkish holdings.  During 2012 the 
Corporation and Lidya Mining completed on a third non-Çöpler Turkish holding joint venture.  The joint 
venture agreements provide for equal ownership by the Corporation and Lidya Mining. The Corporation 
elected to reduce its ownership in Polimetal Madencilik Sanayi Ticaret Anonim Şirketi joint venture (Polimetal), 
from 50% in 2012 to 20% in 2013. The Corporation still maintains its rights to claw back its interest in the 
Polimetal joint venture to 50% on a project-by-project basis.  
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As a shareholder of Anagold, Lidya Mining is responsible for its proportionate share of Anagold’s capital and 
operating costs, and will receive benefit of its proportionate share of revenues and other income.  Non-
controlling interest represents the interest of Lidya Mining in Anagold, based on investment amounts adjusted 
for its share of profit or losses.  The following table summarizes activity for the years ended December 31: 
 

 

2013 2012
Non-controlling interest, beginning of the year 108,856$        17,961$           

Lidya Mining share of Anagold dividends (31,196)            (6,820)              
Additional interest purchased -                         54,112             
Share of profit in Anagold 29,525             43,603             

Non-controlling interest, end of the year 107,185$        108,856$         
 
 

18. Exploration and evaluation 

The following table summarizes activity for the years ended December 31: 
 

2013 2012
Exploration and evaluation expenses 3,081$             7,026$             
Exploration costs reimbursable from third parties -                         (3,146)              
Total exploration and evaluation expenses 3,081$             3,880$              

 

 
 

19. Finance (income) expense, net 

The following table summarizes activity for the years ended December 31: 
 

2013 2012
Interest expense 703$                 6,138$             
Change in Debenture option valuation -                         (32,907)            
Unwinding of environmental rehabilitation provision discount 183                   308                   
Interest income and other (1,543)              (3,214)              

Finance (income) expense, net (657)$               (29,675)$          
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20. Investments accounted for using the equity method 

The Group has interests in a number of individually immaterial associates that are accounted for using the 
equity method. The aggregated financial information on these associates is as follows: 
 

2013 2012
Aggregate carrying amount of individually immaterial 
associates1 1,448$             -$                      

Aggregate amounts of the Company’s share of Net Losses 4,801               -                        
 

1 Included in Other non-current assets. 
  

The Corporation has no commitments and contingencies for the joint ventures. The Corporation is not 
required to contribute any additional funds to the joint ventures under constitution agreements. The joint 
ventures results for 2012 were not included in Aggregate amounts of the Company’s share of Net Losses 
above. These results were part of exploration expenses in 2012, as they were accounted using proportional 
consolidation method. Refer to note 3-u- iii for further discussion.  
 
 

21. Discontinued operations  

On June 12, 2013, the Corporation announced its decision to pursue a sale of the Australian Business Unit and 
subsequently on October 29, 2013, the Corporation completed the sale to a subsidiary of Metals X Limited 
(“Metals X”), an Australian public company with shares listed on the ASX (ASX: MLX). The total consideration 
received was comprised of $40.3 million in cash, including working capital adjustment of $3.7 million. The 
results of the Australian operations up to the date of disposal have been presented as discontinued operations 
within Net loss of discontinued operations in the Consolidated Statements of Profit (Loss).  

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Corporation recognized an impairment charge of $484 million, 
respectively that resulted from the carrying value of the Australian net assets exceeding the estimated fair 
value of the consideration less costs to sell, measured at September 30, 2013. 

On April 5, 2013, prior to the disposal of the Australian Business Unit, the Corporation completed the sale of its 
49% minority interest in the Frog’s Leg Mine joint venture, its 24.5% interest in the Lake Greta joint venture, 
and its 40% interest in the Avoca joint venture (collectively, “Frog’s Leg”). The Corporation recorded a net gain 
of $8.2 million during Q2 2013 in connection with this sale, including $4 million of cumulative foreign exchange 
gain related to measurement of the net assets. 

On disposal the Corporation recognized a gain of $9.2 million that resulted from the carrying value of the 
Australian net assets exceeding the estimated fair value of consideration received in the transaction, measured 
at October 29, 2013. The impairment charge and the loss on disposal have been included in the component of 
discontinued operations in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. 
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The carrying value of major classes of assets and liabilities as well as the fair value of consideration as at the 
date of disposal were as follows: 

Assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents  $           13,762 
Receivables and other                 3,256 
Inventories               16,614 

              33,632 
Mineral properties and equipment, net               82,080 
Other assets                         2 
Total assets  $        115,714 

Liabilities
Current l iabil ities

Trade and other payables               24,616 
Borrowings, current portion                     178 

              24,794 
Provisions               43,703 
Other l iabil ities                     529 
Total liabilities  $           69,026 

Accumulated other comprehensive income related to 
functional currency translations 15,551             

Net carrying value 31,137$           

Total fair value of consideration received               40,307 
Gain on sale of discontinued operations  $             9,170  

 
Results of discontinued operation through the date of disposal: 
 

2013 2012

Revenues  $        235,630  $        381,315 
Production costs             182,882             252,941 
Depreciation, depletion, amortization               48,056             132,450 
Mining gross profit (loss)                 4,692                (4,076)
Exploration and evaluation               19,950               37,634 
Administration, finance and other, net               34,595               13,876 
Other (gain)/loss, net             465,346             504,617 
Income tax expense (benefit)                          -                (7,883)
Net loss for the period from discontinued operations  $       (515,199)  $       (552,320)

Basic Loss per share from discontinued operations  $              (1.78)  $              (1.93)
Diluted Loss per share from discontinued operations  $              (1.78)  $              (1.93)
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Included in Other (gain)/loss, net, are an after‐tax loss of $484 million for year-to-date impairments, a $9.2 
million foreign currency gain on the sale to Metals X, and an $8.2 million gain on sale of the Frog’s Leg Mine 
joint venture. 
 
Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents from discontinued operations: 

29-Oct 31-Dec
2013 2012

Cash provided by (used in) discontinued operation
Net loss from discontinued operations  $       (515,199)  $       (552,320)

Operating cash flows from discontinued operations             (73,534)               65,725 
Investing cash flows from discontinued operations             105,389           (133,213)
Financing cash flows from discontinued operations             (51,888)                 9,288 

Decrease in cash  from discontinued operations             (20,033)             (58,200)
Cash and cash equivalents - Beginning balance               32,569               89,147 

Effect of exchange rates on cash held in foreign currencies                 1,226                 1,622 

Cash and cash equivalents – Ending balance 1  $           13,762  $           32,569  
 
1 Represents cash held at the Australian Business Unit on disposal date 29 October, 2013. 

 
 

22. Profit (loss) per share 

Basic profit (loss) per share is calculated by dividing the profit (loss) attributable to equity holders of the 
Corporation by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. 
 
Diluted profit (loss) per share is calculated using the treasury method, except the if-converted method is used 
in assessing the dilution impact of convertible debentures (until maturity) and options.  The treasury method, 
which assumes that outstanding stock options with an average exercise price below the market price of the 
underlying shares, is exercised and the assumed proceeds are used to repurchase common shares of the 
Corporation at the average market price of the common shares for the period.  The if-converted method 
assumes that all convertible debentures (until maturity) and options have been converted in determining fully 
diluted profit (loss) per share if they are in-the-money, except where such conversion would be anti-dilutive.  
The following table summarizes activity for the years ended December 31: 
 

2013 2012

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Corporation (447,201)$             (385,962)$               
Weighted average number of shares outstanding 289,143,274        285,508,410          
Weighted average number of shares outstanding – diluted 292,232,429        285,508,410           
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23. Contingencies 

The Group has contingent liabilities in respect of legal claims arising in the ordinary course of business.  It is not 
anticipated that any material liabilities not recorded in these financial statements will arise from these 
contingent liabilities. 
 
 

24. Commitments 

a) Commitments 
The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:  

Less than 
one year

Between one 
and five years

More than 
five years

Total

Non-cancellable operating leases  $              667  $            1,036  $              11  $        1,714  
 

b) Non-controlling interest dividends 
Lidya Mining is entitled to receive annual dividend payments equaling its share of legally declarable 
dividends from Anagold operating results.  The amount subject to distribution for 2013 results is $25.5 
million. 

 
c) Other 

In connection with exploration and development activities, the Group may enter into option, lease, royalty 
or other similar agreements with third parties.  Generally, payments required on these commitments do 
not occur until the property has been developed and production commences.   

 
 

25. Related party transactions 

a) Services rendered 
The following table summarizes activity for the years ended December 31: 

 
  2013 2012 

Services rendered  - $       767 
 
During 2012, the Corporation obtained legal services from a law firm where a former director of the 
Corporation is a partner.  The former director chose not to stand for re-election for an additional term and 
ceased being a director on May 23, 2012.  There were no related party transactions during 2013. 
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b) Key management compensation 
Compensation of directors of the Corporation and key management personnel of the Group is shown 
below for the years ended December 31:  

 
2013 2012

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits  $             5,154  $             7,668 
Share-based awards                     913                 4,228 
Termination benefits                 3,978                          - 
Total  $          10,045  $          11,896  

 
 

26. Segment information 

During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Group operated in two operating and geographic 
segments directed towards the acquisition, exploration and production of gold.  Management has determined 
the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the chief operating decision maker (the chief 
executive officer) that are used to make strategic decisions. 
 

Australian 
Business Unit

Turkish 
Business Unit

Corporate 
and other Total

Year ended December 31, 2013:
Revenues -$                         377,081$        -$                   377,081$    
Production costs -                           117,169          -                     117,169       
Depreciation, depletion, amortization -                           37,387             -                     37,387         
Mining gross profit (loss) -                           222,525          -                     222,525       
Exploration and evaluation -                           3,081               -                     3,081           
Administration, finance and other, net -                           38,429             8,348            46,777         
Income tax expense (benefit) -                           75,144             -                     75,144         
Net profit (loss) from continuing operations for the period -                           105,871          (8,348)           97,523         
Net loss from discontinued operations for the period (515,199)            -                        -                     (515,199)     
Net profit (loss) for the period (515,199)$          105,871$        (8,348)$        (417,676)$   

Year ended December 31, 2012:
Revenues -$                         337,575$        -$                   337,575$    
Production costs -                           76,145             -                     76,145         
Depreciation, depletion, amortization -                           23,979             -                     23,979         
Mining gross profit (loss) -                           237,451          -                     237,451       
Exploration and evaluation -                           3,880               -                     3,880           
Administration, finance and other, net -                           3,934               3,040            6,974           
Income tax expense (benefit) -                           16,386             250                16,636         
Net profit (loss) from continuing operations for the period -                           213,251          (3,290)           209,961       
Net loss from discontinued operations for the period (552,320)            -                        -                     (552,320)     
Net profit (loss) for the period (552,320)$          213,251$        (3,290)$        (342,359)$     
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 Australian 
Business Unit 

 Turkish 
Business Unit 

 Corporate 
and other  Total 

As of December 31, 2013:
Current assets -$                         321,678$        42,241$       363,919$    
Non-current assets1 -                           311,267          36,969          348,236       
Total assets -$                         632,945$        79,210$       712,155$    
Current liabilities -$                         47,373$          1,281$          48,654$       
Non-current liabilities -                           29,554             321                29,875         
Total liabilities -$                         76,927$          1,602$          78,529$       
As of December 31, 2012:
Current assets1 146,353$           262,238$        8,475$          417,066$    
Non-current assets1 731,975             270,548          40,792          1,043,315   
Total assets 878,328$           532,786$        49,267$       1,460,381$ 
Current liabilities 116,763$           49,839$          61,897$       228,499$    
Non-current liabilities 49,921                14,636             288                64,845         
Total liabilities 166,684$           64,475$          62,185$       293,344$     
 
 

27. Net change in non-cash working capital 

The following table summarizes activity for the years ended December 31: 
 

2013 2012
Changes in working capital:

Trade and other payables ($2,644) ($1,480)
Receivables and other 1,597 3,012 
Inventories (2,137) (53,061)
Current income tax liabilities                       20,134                          - 
Other 718 1,902 

$17,668 ($49,627)

Supplementary Cash Flow Information:
Interest paid, net ($375) ($1,260)
Income taxes paid ($25,069) ($4,463)  
 
 

28. Subsequent events 

On March 12, 2014, the Corporation’s Board of Directors declared a dividend of $0.02 per share 
(approximately $5.8 million) payable on April 15, 2014 (in Canada) to shareholders of record at the close of 
business on March 31, 2014. 
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